







ISBN (WHO) 978-92-4-008067-6 (electronic version) ISBN (WHO) 978-92-4-008068-3 (print version)

© World Health Organization and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) endorse any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO or OECD logo is not permitted. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). WHO and OECD are not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules).

Suggested citation. Purchasing for quality chronic care: summary report. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/ iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

WHO Photographs. WHO photographs are copyrighted and are not to be reproduced in any medium without obtaining prior written permission. Requests for permission to reproduce WHO photographs should be addressed to: http://www.who.int/copyright/

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication, as well as any data, do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO and OECD concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO and OECD in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO and OECD to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO and OECD be liable for damages arising from its use.

This work is published under the responsibility of the Secretary-General of the OECD and the Director General of the World Health Organization. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of the OECD member countries, or those of WHO.

Design and layout by Howdy LLP.

Contents

Ack	nowledg	gements	iv			
Abl	previatio	ns	vii			
Ехе	cutive su	Jmmary	viii			
1.	Purchasing for accelerating progress towards quality universal health coverage					
	1.1	Background	2			
	1.2	Evolution of payment mechanisms	3			
	1.3	Measuring the quality of chronic care	8			
	1.4	Evidence of impact	10			
	1.5	Other purchasing instruments to promote quality	19			
	1.6	Conclusions	22			
2.	Case studies					
	2.1	Settings and objectives	26			
	2.2	Key design features	35			
	2.3	Quality measurements	40			
	2.4	Structure of financial incentives	46			
	2.5	Evaluation of impact	49			
	2.6	Facilitating and inhibiting factors	54			
	2.7	Conclusions	58			
3.	Lessons learned					
	3.1	Stronger focus on the service delivery model	61			
	3.2	Selecting quality measures, relative targets and reporting requirements	62			
	3.3	Key design features of payment level and certainty	63			
	3.4	Balancing financial incentives	64			
	3.5	Investing in quality to support payment methods	65			
	3.6	Planning sequenced implementation to address	65			
	3.7	Nonfinancial incentives	67			
	3.8	Monitoring and rigorous evaluation	 68			
	3.9	Conclusions	69			
Ref	erences		71			

Acknowledgements

The World Health Organization (WHO) and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) gratefully acknowledge the many individuals and organizations who contributed to the development of this report.

Sarah L Barber, WHO Centre for Health Development, Japan (WHO Kobe Centre – WKC); Inke Mathauer, WHO Department of Health Systems Governance and Financing, Switzerland; Megumi Rosenberg, WKC; and Luca Lorenzoni, OECD, France led the analysis and writing of this report.

The report sums up the findings of separately published country case studies. The authors of these case studies are listed below in alphabetical order of surname, grouped by country.

Australia: Jane Hall (University of Technology Sydney), Philip Haywood (University of Technology Sydney), Deniza Mazevska (Health Policy Analysis), Peyman Firouzi Naeim (University of Technology Sydney), Jim Pearse (Health Policy Analysis), Kees van Gool (University of Sydney), Michael Wright (University of Technology Sydney) and Serena Yu (University of Technology Sydney).

Canada: Laleh Rashidian and Walter P Wodchis (Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, University of Toronto).

Chile: Nicolás Larrain (Health Division, OECD) and Rafael Urriola (Health Economics Department, University of Valparaiso).

China: Yufei Jia, Jiuling Li, Yunguo Liu, Qian Long and Zhexun Lou (Global Health Research Center, Duke Kunshan University).

Germany: Luca Elisa Lindner (formerly of Health Division, OECD).

Indonesia: Hanevi Djasri, Muhamad Faozi Kurniawan and Stevie Ardianto Nappoe (Center for Health Policy and Management, Gadjah Mada University).

South Africa: Atiya Mosam and Anja Smith (independent consultants).

Spain: Ester Angulo-Pueyo and Enrique Bernal-Delgado (Data Science for Health Services and Policy Research, Institute for Health Sciences in Aragon). Other WHO staff provided support, guidance and valuable technical inputs to the case studies that fed into this report. They include Lubna Bhatti, Trin Habicht, Taskeen Khan, Fransiska Mardiananingsih, Bruno Meessen, Feby Oldfisra, Tomas Roubal, Roderick Salenga, Lluis Vinals Torres and Tsolmongerel Tsilaajav. This report was also reviewed by Francesca Colombo and Frederico Guanais from the OECD, and Cassandra Simmons of the European Centre for Social Welfare Policy and Research, Austria.

WHO gratefully acknowledges the financial contributions to the development and production of this report from the Kobe Group, which includes Hyogo Prefecture, Kobe City, the Kobe Chamber of Commerce and Kobe Steel in Japan.

Abbreviations

congestive heart failure
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
diagnosis-related groups
fee for service
Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation
general practitioner
high-income countries
Jaminan Kesehatan Nasional (national health insurance scheme in Indonesia)
low- and middle-income countries
Noncommunicable disease
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
pay for performance
Program Penanggulangan Penyakit Kronis (chronic disease management programme in Indonesia for members of the national health insurance scheme)
results-based financing
universal health coverage
World Health Organization

_

Executive summary

Improving the quality of care for patients with chronic conditions is central to advancing universal health coverage (UHC), given the large burden of premature mortality from noncommunicable diseases. Policy-makers have invested in a wide range of initiatives to address the gaps in receiving the recommended quality care. Countries at different income levels have introduced changes in purchasing and payment arrangements to shift from an activitybased approach to those incorporating measurements of quality and performance. Such methods range from payments made for providing quality care to more complex arrangements that link payments with coordinated patient management. Each method has advantages and disadvantages and creates financial incentives that align to varying extents with quality and health goals.

The objective of this research study is to describe experiences with different purchasing arrangements and payment methods and how these have been used to attain quality care and better health outcomes for patients with chronic conditions. First, we reviewed evidence from rigorous studies across different settings about payment methods and their effects on health care quality and outcomes for patients with chronic conditions. Such evaluations found weak associations with process quality and outcomes related to chronic care.

We then reviewed eight case studies, from Australia, Canada, Chile, China, Germany, Indonesia, South Africa and Spain. These studies were commissioned to provide a better understanding of the designs of different purchasing arrangements that aim to promote quality in chronic disease care. They include examples of blended payment arrangements and population-based payment methods and were, in most cases, accompanied by other service delivery interventions, with the intention of providing incentives to deliver services in a better way. A mix of process and outcome measures was used in all studies, with a reliance on information collected by existing administrative systems. A challenge in most settings was to balance the incentives in blended payment methods, i.e. a combination of two or more payment methods. Very little information was available about how decisions were made in distributing payments, which may create uncertainty for providers. For two schemes that were evaluated, important methodological challenges include selection bias. Key facilitating and inhibiting factors of the interventions included those related to governance, service delivery, quality standards, health information infrastructure, as well as the financial and regulatory environments.

There remains strong interest among all stakeholders to better understand how to implement an optimal mix of different methods of provider payment that supports the goals of better quality and health. This research study has generated lessons for countries interested in improving purchasing and payment arrangements to work towards providing better-quality care for chronic diseases.

A **stronger focus on health care delivery models** and systematically identifying obstacles that inhibit quality is an important approach suggested by this research. Such an approach enables policy-makers to focus on care quality and health outcomes for the population as a whole and identify the appropriate mix of purchasing mechanisms that support service delivery systems to achieve quality objectives. Thus, the choice of payment methods should be made with consideration of the desired change and systems requirements in the context of the existing payment infrastructure.

In terms of **quality measures**, process indicators empirically linked to clinical health may ensure strong links between a provider's practice and improved health outcomes, particularly if based on established professional norms and guidance. Measures of care coordination, integration and person-centredness are equally important for patients with chronic conditions. Defining and operationalizing these more complex measures takes substantial effort, however, and their inclusion in the programmes studied was infrequent. Outcomes reported by patients were included in many studies, and these recognize the central role that patients' behaviours play in the quality of chronic care. But obtaining data about patient-reported outcomes requires investment in special studies.

Relative or progressive quality targets may be more appropriate where there is diversity in providers' capacities. Such targets may encourage providers and facilities to strive towards gradually improving their standards of care. Moreover, adjusting quality measures to account for patients' health risks and care complexity may help ensure that providers do not face incentives that inhibit them from caring for the sickest patients. It may also more accurately reflect performance for providers working with populations that have higher health risks. Quality metrics can also be adjusted for social risk factors to redress equity in provider payments and avoid penalizing health facilities that serve vulnerable patients. Reporting requirements must be as light as possible and based on routine reporting systems to avoid high reporting burdens that take time away from care provision.

Balancing financial incentives in payment methods is a critical design challenge. Relatively small, incremental quality payments may not be sufficient to counter stronger incentives in activity-based payment methods that produce a larger share of provider

payments. There is weak evidence demonstrating the effect of nonpayment on reducing adverse outcomes. Moreover, the case studies suggested that withholding payment or reducing payments as a penalty had important negative effects. Operationalizing broad recommendations (such as not paying for poor quality care) has, in practice, resulted in policies with unintended consequences that can negatively affect patients. Penalties for poor performance should be considered carefully so as not to undermine a programme's overall objectives and reduce the resources available for improving quality.

A key design element is **payment certainty**, which may affect providers' willingness to participate in a programme or accept changes. To establish certainty about and confidence in new payment methods, the process of decision-making should be transparent. This may include decisions about the size of incentive payments and how they are paid, rules for distributing payments across or within teams, linkages to quality metrics and a timely payment schedule. Commitments to changes in payment methods may be sustained when they extend over a relatively longer period of time.

Financial incentives offered to improve quality need to be embedded in **broader quality assurance mechanisms**. This is likely to require strengthening the standards for health systems inputs and processes to provide a foundation for purchasing for quality.

New payment methods can be initiated while also building broader capacities in human resources and service delivery under **a plan for incremental, sequenced implementation**. Such a plan would create a road map for policy-makers to identify and proactively address challenges to quality improvements, as well as key facilitating and inhibiting factors within governance, service delivery, health information systems, and the financial and regulatory environments.

Because payment methods have the potential for harm as well as benefit, it is important to **build monitoring and evaluation into the design** of a payment method before and throughout wide-scale implementation. The design can include a conceptual framework that articulates causal pathways and assumptions, and data collection plans to monitor and sufficiently power an evaluation. Monitoring key design elements can allow for adjustments during implementation to provide optimal incentives and address unintended effects. Evaluations should test assumptions, address sources of bias and explicitly examine the potential unintended consequences of a broad range of outcomes and the possible differential effects among vulnerable subgroups. Selection bias (among both providers and participants) is the most common challenge in evaluations, and it should be identified and addressed in analytical plans and considered carefully when interpreting results. There is a **lack of good evidence and documentation about other broader purchasing instruments commonly thought to promote quality**. These include making information about quality publicly available, using selective contracting, and making geographical price adjustments to ensure sufficient resources to meet minimum quality standards. Close monitoring and evaluation of these instruments are essential to determine their effects on behaviour. Financial incentives for patients to receive better quality care have demonstrated some effects and are another promising initiative deserving more research.

Evidence suggests that there could be more learning from past experiences about the design and evaluation of payment methods, including **how lessons learned can be systematically adapted across different countries and contexts.** While proactive learning takes time and effort – particularly across settings and among different stakeholders – it is essential to share experiences to avoid continually repeating similar mistakes and implementation failures. The lessons learned from this research study may be useful for countries that are looking to other settings for experiences in optimizing purchasing arrangements and payment methods to provide better quality care for patients with chronic diseases.

Purchasing for accelerating progress towards quality universal health coverage



1.1 Background

The quality of health care is central to advancing universal health coverage (UHC). As service coverage increases globally, the quality of care gains greater importance in improving health outcomes. Poor quality medical care is estimated to account for up to 58% of preventable deaths in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), exceeding the burden of disease attributable to a lack of access to health care (1). In high-income countries (HICs), some 15% of hospital expenditures can be attributed to addressing poor quality care, including clinical mistakes and hospital-acquired infections that together affect 7% to 10% of inpatients (2). A major challenge to health systems globally is premature mortality from noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) among those aged 30 to 70 years,¹ which accounts for 42% of NCD deaths globally (3). As these deaths are largely preventable with access to good quality care, improving the quality of care for people with chronic conditions is a key strategy for accelerating progress towards UHC (4, 5).

In recognition that gaps exist between the recommended quality of care and the care that patients receive, policy-makers have invested in a wide range of programmes to promote the best clinical and care practices (6). This paper focuses on strategic purchasing instruments that seek to align payment incentives with quality outcomes (7, 8). Strategic purchasing involves making decisions about which services will be purchased, which providers will deliver those services and how providers will be paid, including the incentives for improving quality (9, 10).²

Payment methods are a key component of strategic purchasing. Many countries are modifying the ways in which health care providers are paid for their services, moving away from payments based on volumes of services delivered, or activity-based payment systems, and towards instruments that link payments with the quality of care received or patients' outcomes. Modified payment mechanisms that have the objective of improving care quality may be referred to as purchasing for quality (11), pay for quality (12), pay for coordination (13), quality-based purchasing (14) and valuebased payments (15). Other terms for payment instruments that use quality metrics as a part of measuring an individual provider's or system's performance include pay for performance (P4P) (16), results-based financing (RBF) (17), performance-based financing (18) and outcome-based payments (19). Different labels and designations have been applied to the same activities and

¹ Premature mortality from NCDs is measured as the unconditional probability of dying at the ages of 30 to 70 years from any of the four major NCDs (i.e. cardiovascular diseases, cancers, diabetes, and chronic respiratory diseases).

² Purchasing agencies can take many forms, such as a ministry of health, a subnational authority, a mandatory or voluntary health insurance scheme, or a nongovernmental organization.

Purchasing for accelerating progress towards quality universal health coverage approaches across contexts. For example, P4P is the term used in HICs, whereas performance-based financing or RBF has been preferred in LMICs and within the context of donor-funded programmes. These mechanisms are grounded in conceptual theories about financial incentives and behaviour; such theories are discussed in detail elsewhere (20, 21). Given the importance that governments and international agencies have placed on payment methods linked to quality, many diverse networks have been established to support their implementation and evaluation (22-38).

In Section 1 of this report, we collate the evidence from rigorous systematic reviews of published studies evaluating the effects of different payment instruments on the quality of care and outcomes for chronic conditions. Sections 2 and 3 synthesize the evidence gathered through eight country case studies examining purchasing for quality chronic care. Based on the evidence from the rigorous published studies and the new commissioned case studies, Section 4 concludes with lessons learned for other countries and particularly for low- and middle-income settings.

1.2 Evolution of payment mechanisms

Determining how and how much providers are paid is a key component of purchasing. In recognition that distinct payment mechanisms influence providers' behaviour and promote care quality in different ways, there has been a shift in many countries from activity-based payments (such as fee-for-service [FFS] and case-based payments) to arrangements that focus on value in spending and care quality (10, 39, 40). Multiple typologies have been developed to describe different provider payment mechanisms (41, 42). Building on these frameworks, Table 1 describes an evolution of payment mechanisms towards more integrated approaches and a focus on quality outcomes. For each category, the table notes a few key advantages and disadvantages, which are described fully elsewhere (43, 44, 45).

Payment methods that provide no explicit incentives for quality of care include line-item budgets, activity-based payments (including diagnosis-related groups [DRGs] for hospitals), capitation payments and global budgets. The most common activity-based payment is FFS, in which payments are made retrospectively for each service provided. Quality is not rewarded, and poor quality may result from the provision of unnecessary services. Hospitals in high-income and some middle-income settings typically use DRGs as the unit of payment, which classify patients by complexity and assign prices to each case group. DRGs do not reward quality per se and may result in poor quality as measured by early discharge or underprovision of

needed care (46). Global budgets are more commonly used for hospitals, in which a fixed amount of funding is given to care for a defined population and for a defined time. In many cases, however, quality metrics can be identified to monitor performance to offset the incentives for poorer quality care. However, these payment arrangements (i.e. FFS, capitation, global budget, DRGs) are often poorly aligned with health system priorities, such as improving quality.

Table 1. Payment arrangements and examples: towards integration and quality

Category	Approach	Some advantages	Some disadvantages	Example
Line-item budget	Budgets based on input costs	Ease in financial accounting	Does not reward quality or for outcomes; no risk adjustment for patient complexity; difficult to change line-item allocations	Prospective line-item budgets
Activity- based payments	Payments made retrospectively for each service provided	Linkage between resource input and volumes; may increase delivery of services that are underutilized, such as prevention interventions	Does not reward quality or efficiency; incentives for overprovision	FFS, per diem and activity-based payments (47)
Case-based payments	Classifies health services and patient case-mix by complexity and assigns prices	Strong incentives for controlling hospital costs, including reducing length of stay	Fixed lump-sum payments do not vary based on services provided; negative incentives include shortened length of stay resulting in readmission or inappropriate referral, increased admissions, poorer quality and underprovision of needed care	DRGs, case-based payments (46)

Category	Approach	Some advantages	Some disadvantages	Example
Blended payments	Incremental rewards or penalties linked to specific quality metrics; added to line item, FFS or capitation payments at primary level, or at hospitals to DRGs, per diems or fee schedules; can be paid retrospectively or prospectively	Used to balance incentives in base payments for better quality; linkage between resource allocation and quality metrics measured; can be adjusted for patient complexity	Incentives for over-and underutilization of targeted and nontargeted activities; difficult to identify quality metrics under the control of the provider	Pay-for- performance, results-based payments and pay for coordination of care added to a base payment (45)
	Incremental rewards or penalties linked to specific quality metrics prospectively; added to existing base payments; providers can share in the savings if they are efficient and meet quality targets	Quality standards are explicitly identified; difference between target prices and incurred costs are reconciled at the end of the year, creating incentives for providers to reduce cost	Remains an activity- based payment; shared savings may not be sufficient to counter incentives in base payment mechanisms to maximize revenue by increasing utilization	Some accountable care organizations with quality and cost targets (48, 49)
Bundled payments	Payments for procedure-based clinical care that combine fees for physicians, hospitals and other health care providers into a single amount for all services to cover a care episode for a specific procedure from beginning to end; generally paid prospectively	Can reduce fragmentation across an episode of care and multiple providers; quality and outcomes explicitly linked to payments; risk adjustments can be used to address selection; reduces overprovision of care and unnecessary care; promotes care coordination and efficiency; promotes financial stability	Incentives to increase the number of episodes, avoid patients with complications and deny costly needed care; feasible for common procedures with established practice guidelines; tends to focus on specialists and high-cost procedures; may lead to fragmented care for persons with multimorbidity	Bundled episode payment for procedure-based clinical care or specific chronic conditions (50)

Category	Approach	Some advantages	Some disadvantages	Example
Population- based payments	Payments made prospectively to health providers for defined services per person during a fixed time, regardless of utilization	Health care providers decide on the appropriate mix of care; financial incentive to keep patients healthy, reduce unnecessary care and control costs; can be risk adjusted to account for patient care complexity	Does not explicitly reward quality; incentives for underprovision of care and referral of complex patients to other providers to avoid high-cost care	Capitation for primary care services (11)
	Payments made prospectively to a health care organization for services and outcomes for a defined population during a fixed time, often calculated based on case-mix index	Promotes financial stability; quality and outcomes can be identified across different hospital departments, and resources can be allocated to encourage coordination	Insufficient budget may compromise quality; facilities have incentives to keep within budget and control costs by limiting access and quality	Global budget revenue models <i>(45)</i>
	Payments made prospectively to an integrated health system or group of providers responsible for delivering all primary and referral services to a defined population, typically adjusted for age, sex and health status; can include other payment incentives or penalties	Promotes integrated care across health services; quality and outcome are explicitly linked to payments and provide incentives for health facilities to work with care partners outside the health sector to deploy resources efficiently to meet targeted outcomes; may promote prevention activities	Incentives for underprovision as providers are obligated to cover costs above the target price arising from complications and readmissions; may be inappropriate for high-cost, high-need patients with complex chronic conditions that require care outside of the integrated system	Comprehensive or global capitation (45, 51)

DRGs: diagnosis-related groups; FFS: fee for service.

Purchasing for accelerating progress towards quality universal health coverage Blended payment mechanisms represent efforts to modify activitybased payment systems to realign the financial incentives towards better quality outcomes. Blended arrangements include activitybased payments that incorporate rewards for providing quality care or penalties for poor quality care. Such arrangements were developed in recognition that the incentives inherent in activitybased payments (e.g. FFS) may undermine objectives to improve care quality. The most common mechanisms in this category are P4P and RBF schemes that are added to the base payment to provide rewards for attaining specific quality objectives or penalties for not attaining them. This includes pay-for-coordination payments through which providers receive additional incentives for collaborating and coordinating care, activities that are critical for chronic disease management, particularly for patients with multimorbidity.

Blended or bundled activity-based payments linked to quality outcomes can also incorporate shared savings. Shared-savings models establish a benchmark for the base payment: the difference between the target prices and incurred costs are then reconciled. This enables savings for payers and providers, should care be provided efficiently, while also delivering quality outcomes. The challenge is to balance the incentives inherent in activity-based payments to maximize revenue through higher service utilization.

Bundled payments are typically made for high-cost procedures (such as hip replacements) or chronic care episodes for which clinical management protocols are well established. Payers combine fees and other payments for physicians, hospitals and other health care providers into a single amount to promote changes in service delivery and to improve care quality. The advantage of these approaches is the linkage between the payment and the coordination of patient management. Under the objective of providing better overall services, the payment covers care for a specific procedure or care episode from beginning to end. These payment mechanisms typically have the important contingency of ensuring that quality targets are met to avoid skimping (i.e. reducing the provision of necessary care to save resources). Bundled payments strive for vertical integration and may be less appropriate for patients with multimorbidity whose care requires horizontal integration across different service categories.

Population-based payments such as capitation are commonly used to pay for primary care services, and payments are made per person for a defined benefits package over a specified time regardless of utilization. Quality is not explicitly rewarded under capitation payments, and these can result in providers offering too little care to minimize their costs and in the selection of low-risk patients. Global capitation or a global payment has been used to incentivize the



delivery of health and social care to a defined population. Population-based payments can also be made to an integrated health system or group of providers responsible for delivering comprehensive primary and referral services to a defined population. As such, the basic payment methods and rates are altered with the aim of ensuring quality for comprehensive care. Performance-based incentives or penalties may also be included to promote quality. Such models, however, may be inappropriate for patients with complex chronic conditions who require specialized care outside of the integrated system.

As payment systems evolve to incorporate more aspects of quality and value enhancement, they typically require additional investments in information systems to monitor and evaluate costs and quality, and also strong governance structures, and they put higher demands on providers' time for reporting.

1.3 Measuring the quality of chronic care

The World Health Organization (WHO) broadly defines the quality of care as the degree to which health services for individuals and populations increase the likelihood of desired health outcomes. The domains of quality encompass being people-centred, effective, safe, timely, efficient, equitable³ and integrated (52).

Multiple frameworks have been developed to study quality and describe how quality elements contribute to health goals (53, 54). Research conducted in the 1980s and used today has defined quality in terms of structure, process and outcomes (55). In this context, a key issue for measuring variations in quality is the level of the health care system (i.e. primary, secondary or tertiary) in which a programme is implemented and quality is assessed (56). At one level of the health care system, quality metrics focus on the individual (e.g. clinical care processes, patient safety); at another level, metrics aim to assess the performance of the health system (e.g. responsiveness). The distinction is important, given that different interventions are used to improve these metrics at the individual and health systems levels. Evaluating the quality of care for complex and chronic conditions goes beyond traditional disease-specific measurements and pathways, and encompasses the concepts of integration, coordination, care continuity and care for patients with multimorbidity (57-61).

³ In principle, efficiency and equity are distinct and separate UHC objectives (i.e. the interim objective and final objective, respectively), but we acknowledge that these two dimensions are linked and form key aspects from a quality perspective.

Purchasing for accelerating progress towards quality universal health coverage Typically, quality metrics included when monitoring payment methods comprise structural inputs (e.g. the availability of equipment and supplies); clinical processes linked to practice guidelines; intermediate health outcomes and risk factors that predict morbidity and mortality (e.g. blood pressure levels and tobacco use) (62); and process measures linked to health outcomes (e.g. preventive care activities, hospital admissions and length of stay). Measures of patient safety and satisfaction are also commonly included. Some programmes also incorporate health outcome measures, such as disease-specific morbidity and mortality (63-65).

When selecting quality metrics, both intervention-specific components as well as health systems factors can be considered (66). Intervention-specific components include the objectives of the intervention, the areas of quality targeted for change and whether the financial rewards and penalties can incentivize this change. Health systems considerations include the availability of information and timeliness of measurements, the accuracy of data, and the governance structures, including the monitoring and evaluation of quality.

For chronic conditions in which self-management is critical and frequently done for a longer period, process measures may become more important than measures of morbidity and mortality. These include the patient's quality of life and ability to self-manage. As such, the objectives of the health care provider and the patient may be more difficult to align in chronic conditions, thereby complicating the choice of quality metrics that represent their shared views *(61)*.

The most common challenges in measuring quality in the context of monitoring the effects of changes in payment methods include selecting metrics that can be influenced by financial incentives, and thus are under the control of the health care provider or patient, and adjusting for patient complexity, risk and patients' preferences (67, 68).

An important consideration is to identify and monitor unintended effects (69-71). These may include gaming the data used to generate performance scores, focusing on only those activities linked to payments and ignoring other clinically important areas that are unmeasured, avoiding higher-risk patients and providing care that is not clinically necessary (72). Extensive reporting requirements can take time away from patient care and other quality improvement programs (73).



1.4 Evidence of impact

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report Many initiatives have been undertaken during the past several decades that shift the emphasis towards payment methods to increase quality and value in health spending and improve the delivery of quality care for patients with chronic illnesses (74). In HICs, purchasing arrangements have been initiated or adapted to encourage providers to focus on quality dimensions (75). However, many of the evaluations of payment initiatives have serious problems in their design that limit the conclusions that can be drawn about their effects and their applicability or relevance elsewhere.

As such, this paper aims to review the body of rigorous evidence as a whole rather than focus on the findings of individual studies. We focus on Cochrane reviews and other systematic reviews in which study quality and risk of bias were evaluated. While most of these reviews do not explicitly focus on chronic care, we extracted the findings for those studies that used quality or outcomes for chronic care conditions and reported the effects. As illustrated in Table 2, the findings of eight Cochrane reviews studying different financial incentives and payment mechanisms show only modest effects for a range of quality metrics and outcomes related to chronic care. Table 2. Summary of findings from eight Cochrane reviews examining the effects of payment methods on the provision of better quality care for chronic diseases^{1,2}

Author (reference number)	Objective	Context	Scope	Intervention	Outcomes related to quality of chronic care	Synthesized findings
Diaconu et al. (76)	To assess the effects of P4P on the provision of health care and health outcomes in LMICs	P4P was assessed predominantly at the health- facility level in LMICs	59 articles published before April 2018; the paper updates a 2012 review	P4P in addition to various base payments (e.g. budget, capitation)	Health outcomes, changes in targeted measures of providers' performance, unintended effects, changes in resource use	P4P had mixed effects; findings mostly with low certainty. See Table 3.
Jia et al. <i>(77)</i>	To assess the impact of different provider payment methods in outpatient settings on the quantity and quality of service provision, patients' outcomes, providers' outcomes, costs of service provision and adverse effects	Health care providers working in outpatient facilities in mostly HICs	27 articles published up to 5 March 2019	P4P in addition to various base payments (e.g. budget, capitation)	Patient–physician interaction and physician prescribing; intermediate outcomes included mean blood pressure reduction for patients	Small benefits reported, including a slight increase in the number of primary care physicians prescribing guideline- recommended antihypertensive medicines. See Table 4. One RCT found that the performance of incentivized professionals was not sustained after the P4P intervention ended.
Mathes et al. <i>(78)</i>	To assess the impact of P4P on health care delivered in hospital in terms of the quality of care, resource use and equity	Hospital-based physicians providing acute or emergency care in HICs	27 articles published up to 27 June 2018	P4P plus capitation compared with capitation alone	Patients' outcomes; quality of care; utilization, coverage or access; resource use, costs and cost-shifting; health care providers' outcomes; equity; adverse effects or harms	Most studies showed no difference or only a very small effect in favour of the P4P programme; the certainty of the evidence was low or very low.

Author (reference number)	Objective	Context	Scope	Intervention	Outcomes related to quality of chronic care	Synthesized findings
Yuan et al. (79)	To assess the impact of different payment methods on the performance of outpatient care facilities and to analyse the different impacts of payment methods in different settings	Facilities providing primary care and mental health care in LMICs, the United Kingdom and the United States	21 articles published up to March 2016	Different payment methods including P4P and blended payments	Patients' outcomes, health care providers' behaviours and adverse effects	P4P had only small benefits and made little or no difference to providers' behaviour or patient utilization. Slight improvements reported in providers' use of some tests and treatments; little or no difference found in adherence to quality assurance criteria. Capitated budget combined with performance payment probably slightly reduced antibiotic prescriptions in primary health facilities.
Wiysonge et al. 2017 <i>(80)</i>	To provide an overview of the evidence from up-to-date systematic reviews about the effects of financial arrangements on health systems in low-income countries	43% of 276 studies took place in LMICs	5 systematic reviews of 276 studies from 2008 to 2015	Purchasing (1 review), patient incentives (6 reviews) and providers' incentives (5 reviews)	Process quality measured for health care providers, adherence to recommended treatments measured for patients, and intermediate health outcomes, some of which were related to chronic care	Uncertain impacts on the quality of care from incentives for primary care physicians; uncertain effect of P4P on providers' performance, patients' utilization of services, patients' outcomes or resource use in low-income countries
Rashidian et al. 2015 <i>(81)</i>	To determine the effects of pharmaceutical policies using financial incentives to influence prescribers' practices on medicine use, health care utilization, health outcomes and costs	6 HICs; no study from LMICs met the inclusion criteria	18 articles published before February 2015	3 studies of P4P policies in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands	One of the following outcomes had to be reported: medicines use, health care utilization, health outcomes or costs	Effects of P4P on medicines use and health outcomes are uncertain.

Author (reference number)	Objective	Context	Scope	Intervention	Outcomes related to quality of chronic care	Synthesized findings
Scott et al. 2011 <i>(82)</i>	To examine the effects of changes in the method and level of payment on the quality of care provided by primary care physicians	Primary care physicians in all settings	7 articles published from January 2000 until August 2009	Payments based on relative performance ranking	Patient-reported outcome measures, clinical behaviour, and intermediate clinical and physiological measures	6 of 7 studies showed positive but modest effects on quality for some primary outcomes. Modest increases were reported in the mean percentage of smokers referred to a telephone counselling service and smoking cessation programmes. Modest positive effects reported on patients' assessment of care quality. Modest positive effects reported on targeted payments (e.g. for cervical cancer screening and eye exams).
Flodgren et al. 2011 <i>(83)</i>	To conduct an overview of systematic reviews that evaluated the impact of financial incentives on the behaviour of health care professionals and on patients' outcomes	Systematic reviews focusing on providers' behaviours and health outcomes at all levels of the health system in all settings	4 systematic reviews of 32 articles published up to January 2010	Payment for providing a prespecified activity or a change in activity or a change in the quality of care	Process quality for health care providers, adherence for patients to recommended treatments, and intermediate health outcomes related to chronic care	Payment for providing a prespecified level of activity or a change in activity or change in the quality of care was generally effective. Financial incentives were of mixed effectiveness on consultation or visit rates but were generally effective in improving processes of care and generally effective in improving referrals and admissions; they were generally ineffective in improving compliance with guidelines.

HICs: high-income countries; LMICs: low- and middle-income countries; P4P: pay for performance; RCT: randomized controlled trial.

¹ All studies used rigorous designs, including controlled before-after, nonrandomized or cluster-randomized, interrupted time series or repeated measures.

² The table limits the findings to quality and health outcomes related to chronic care.

Table 3. Summary of the Cochrane review examining the effects of pay-for performance or results-based financing schemes on the quality of chronic care in low- and middle-income countries¹ (76)

Comparison	Outcome	Summary of impact ²	Certainty of evidence ³
P4P against status quo	Health outcomes	Increased likelihood of tuberculosis treatment success (range: 12–20% improvement)4	Low certainty
	Delivery and utilization	Increased proportion of people receiving HIV testing (range: 6– 600%) and care to prevent mother to child transmission (range: 3.8–21%) ⁴	Low certainty
		May decrease proportion of people receiving antiretroviral therapy ⁴	Low certainty
		Impact on improving adherence to tuberculosis treatment	Very low certainty
	Quality of care	Improved scores rating the availability of medicine and equipment (range: 2.7–220% increase)	Low certainty
		Improved mean scores for quality of specific targeted service areas (range: 39% to 15-fold increase in scores).	Low certainty
		Uncertain impact on procedural quality of care, little or no difference in staff knowledge and skills; effects on staff responsiveness were uncertain overall	Very low certainty
	Resource use	Positive effect on availability of human resources (range: 19–44%) ⁴	Moderate certainty
		Positive impacts on infrastructure functionality and medicine availability ⁴	Moderate certainty
	Providers' motivation	Little difference in absenteeism (range 0.7–2%) ⁴	Moderate certainty
	Patients' satisfaction	Positive effects on patient acceptability	Low certainty
	Management	Positive effects on managerial autonomy for facility ⁴	Low certainty
	Equity	Conflicting results: proportion of poor people using different maternal and child health services reported to both increase and decrease ⁴	Low certainty

Comparison	Outcome	Summary of impact ²	Certainty of evidence ³
P4P against comparator interventions	Health outcomes	Little to no difference in health outcomes	Low certainty
	Delivery and utilization	Increased probability of people utilizing care (range: 2–10%) ⁴	Low certainty
	Resource use	Increased equipment availability by 75%, but reduced medicine availability by up to 160% ⁴	Low certainty
	Management	May have desirable effects ⁴	Low certainty
	Equity	Little or no difference or may worsen inequity ⁴	Low certainty

P4P: pay for performance.

- ¹ P4P and RBF refer to activity-based payments linked to quality metrics with the objective of providing incentives for better care quality.
- ² Outcomes unrelated to the quality of chronic care are omitted from this table.
- ³ The GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation) Working Group ratings of the certainty of evidence:
 - high certainty the research provides a very good indication of the likely effect. The likelihood that the effect will be substantially different is low;
 - moderate certainty the research provides a good indication of the likely effect. The likelihood that the effect will be substantially different is moderate;
 - low certainty the research provides some indication of the likely effect. However, the likelihood that it will be substantially different is high;
 - very low certainty the research does not provide a reliable indication of the likely effect. The likelihood that the effect will be substantially different is very high.

Substantially different refers to a difference that is large enough that it might affect a decision.

⁴ This was a targeted P4P programme.

1.4.1 Evidence of impact in low- and middle-income countries

In LMICs, experimentation in modifying payment mechanisms has been undertaken widely, frequently as a part of donor programmes hoping to increase access to quality care and promote equity in access (84). Efforts have primarily focused on P4P or RBF mechanisms that link payments to quality metrics as an add-on to the base payment, which might be budget allocation or capitation. Table 3 presents the detailed findings of a recent Cochrane review of 59 studies evaluating P4P in 34 LMICs, and it extracts the findings from studies that used outcomes relevant to chronic care to evaluate effects (76). The review found some evidence that the structural quality of care may improve with P4P; however, the impact of P4P on measures of process quality was uncertain, and there was little or no evidence of an effect on health outcomes.

The results of rigorous evaluations of large-scale international donor projects have similarly reported mixed effects of RBF on the quality

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report of basic services in LMICs (85-87). In their Cochrane review of 15 systematic reviews, Wiysonge et al. examined 276 studies looking at a wide range of financial arrangements for health care in low-income countries; the authors reported uncertain effects of P4P on providers' performance, patients' service utilization, patients' outcomes, and resource use in low-income countries (80). A metaanalysis of 116 studies evaluating P4P schemes that were published between January 2010 and February 2018 including studies in low-income countries confirmed these results (88). While the latter meta-analysis did not focus solely on quality, the authors concluded that despite an increase in the number of countries adopting P4P, the results remained disappointing. The authors also noted that there was little learning from past experiences and across countries about designing and evaluating P4P schemes.

1.4.2 Evidence of impact on outpatient care in high-income countries

A Cochrane global review in 2021 focused on financial incentives for providers working in outpatient care facilities in mostly HICs (summarized in Tables 2 and 4) (77). The authors reported that when P4P was blended with other payment methods (including capitation, salary, and fee for service) and compared with the status quo (i.e. without P4P), then health care providers probably offered betterquality care, including in their use of medicines, but these improvements may not be sustained when the P4P payments end. The review found that effects on health outcomes are mixed. Evidence was of low or very low certainty.

Other reviews have found similar results. Quentin et al. conducted a review of 14 purchasing-for-quality programmes in primary care in 13 European countries and found that bonus payments ranging from 0.1% to 30% of a provider's income resulted in small positive effects on absolute levels of process quality (66). The authors cited similar results from seven studies published between 1999 and 2016 and summarized the evidence about pay-for-quality programmes in primary care settings, recognizing limitations in the design of many studies that affected the interpretation and findings. The authors noted that the quality of the studies is critical: methodologically weak studies based on observational data or studies with no comparison group reported positive effects on process quality with lower certainty. In contrast, more rigorous studies with control groups or data collected over longer periods reported no or only slight positive effects and had higher certainty. These findings have been observed elsewhere (15).

In their 2023 scoping review, Simmons et al. (89) summarized the results of 12 studies that included pay-for-coordination fees alone or with performance incentives in primary care settings. They

Purchasing for accelerating progress towards quality universal health coverage reported that pay-for-coordination alone had low or no impact. When it was combined with performance incentives, pay-forcoordination had a positive impact on utilization (low certainty of evidence), including reducing preventable emergency department visits as well as increasing office-based visits (i.e. to primary care practitioners, nurse practitioners, specialists). They also reported positive impacts on prevention activities, care and treatment for several chronic conditions, namely through increases in testing for cardiovascular care, diabetes care and breast cancer screenings (with the certainty of evidence ranging from high to low).

Table 4. Summary of the Cochrane review examining the effect of pay for performance on the quality of chronic care offered by providers working in outpatient care (77)

Outcome	Summary of impact ¹	Certainty of evidence ²
Health outcomes	Reduction in mean blood pressure	Very low certainty
	Improved blood pressure control or reduced blood pressure or appropriate responses to patients with uncontrolled blood pressure	Low certainty
Delivery and utilization	Increase in immunizations for patients aged ≥65 years	Very low certainty
	Increased number of patients who were asked more detailed questions about their disease by their pharmacist	Low certainty
Quality of care	Improved provider prescribing of guideline-recommended antihypertensive medicines	Low certainty

- ¹ Outcomes unrelated to the quality of chronic care are omitted from this table. Pay for performance was compared against the status quo.
- ² The GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation) Working Group ratings of the certainty of evidence:
 - high certainty the research provides a very good indication of the likely effect. The likelihood that the effect will be substantially different is low;
 - moderate certainty: the research provides a good indication of the likely effect. The likelihood that the effect will be substantially different is moderate;
 - low certainty the research provides some indication of the likely effect. However, the likelihood that it will be substantially different is high;
 - very low certainty the research does not provide a reliable indication of the likely
 effect. The likelihood that the effect will be substantially different is very high.

Substantially different refers to a difference that is large enough that it might affect a decision.



1.4.3 Hospital-based care in high-income countries

A Cochrane review of 27 studies in 2019 evaluated the impact of P4P among hospital-based physicians in HICs providing acute or emergency care and the effect on the quality of care, resource use and equity (78). For chronic care and the other outcomes measured, the authors found that P4P had only small, short-term effects that were not sustained over time. They noted that penalizing hospitals through nonpayment for failure to reach performance targets seemed to be slightly more effective in comparison with making additional payments for performance, although the evidence was of low certainty.

Similarly, a 2019 review of 13 purchasing-for-quality programmes in hospitals in Europe found that bonus payments ranging from 0.5% to 10% of a provider's income were ineffective in improving quality or health outcomes; any positive effects waned over time (66). The authors also noted variations in results by study design; any positive effects could not be confirmed by rigorous studies with control groups and outcomes adjusted for patient risk and time trends (66).

More recent reviews have reported similar findings. In their systematic review of 13 studies in 2022, Remers et al. reported that no conclusions could be drawn in their evaluation of the effect of payment reforms, including bundled payments, on the quality of care for patients with multimorbidity *(90)*. The authors recommended that better quality evaluations should be conducted and that interventions should be multifaceted. A 2020 review of 37 evaluations looked at 16 Medicare payment reforms in the United States that focused on cost control by shifting from FFS to bundled payments for hospital-initiated episodes of care. The review concluded that the pace of spending declined without any adverse impact on care quality *(91)*.

1.4.4 Integrated models of service delivery

Another set of mechanisms focuses on aligning payments with models of service delivery. Shared-savings and shared-risk models apply activity-based payments to establish cost benchmarks for a set of services, typically across networks of providers; providers can share in the savings if they are efficient in reducing expenditures below benchmark levels and, where included in the program, in meeting quality targets. Under shared-risk models, providers are accountable for overspending if their costs exceed the benchmark. Examples of these models in the United States include accountable care organizations and patient-centred medical homes, which are based on a shared-savings model. A 2014 summary of the experiences of six accountable care organizations reported wide variations in design and implementation, and low certainty about their effects on quality and costs (*15*). Under patient-centred medical homes, the payment model relies on the existing activity-

Purchasing for accelerating progress towards quality universal health coverage based infrastructure and may include a monthly risk-adjusted coordination fee, FFS and additional performance-based payments (92). Systematic reviews of studies of patient-centred medical homes have reported inconclusive results because most studies were observational and so there was low certainty about the impact; moreover, given that the evaluations focused on the synergistic effects of delivery and payment reforms, many studies cannot identify the specific effects of the payment mechanisms (89, 93-95).

In their scoping review, Simmons et al. (89) reported on eight shared-risk and shared-savings models. They found evidence of improved process outcomes for disease-specific management and control indicators, with moderate and low levels of certainty, and low certainty about improved health outcomes and continuity of care. These models also highlight broader aspects of service delivery in conjunction with purchasing, including the implementation of care coordination and patient management strategies.

Most of these reviews identified substantial heterogeneity in the design, implementation, measurement and evaluation of payment models. A review of 58 studies of P4P evaluations reported that several factors unique to payment design can modify the performance of payment methods *(96)*. These include the size and clinical type of the implementing organization, and individual characteristics, such as the age and sex of those providing care. The population served also matters; the same study noted that facilities and providers that care for a higher share of poor and minority patients are consistently associated with lower performance. However, the authors concluded that such heterogeneity cannot explain the lower-than-expected effectiveness consistently reported in evaluations of payment methods.

1.5 Other purchasing instruments to promote quality

As payment arrangements become more complex, concomitant large-scale investments are required in information systems, data quality and governance. In many cases, large-scale investments are needed to effect systemwide quality improvements.

At the same time, efforts have been made to align the existing payment infrastructure with quality objectives *(10, 97)*. Table 5 provides a few examples of purchasing instruments used within existing payment schemes.

Table 5. Other purchasing instruments that have been used to promote quality within existing payment infrastructure

Purchasing instrument	Ехатрles	Evidence of effect
Making information about quality publicly available to hold providers accountable for the quality of their care and to inform users' choices	Australia's national indicators of safety and quality in health care, France's national health authority, Germany's public reporting of quality measures, the United States' Meaningful Measures Initiative (98)	Rigorous studies report inconclusive findings or no evidence of effect (99, 100); making quality information publicly available may have unintended effects on prices (101).
Redirecting volumes across providers based on quality measurements (e.g. selecting providers based on compliance with minimum quality standards) and promoting competition among providers to encourage better quality	Selective contracting based on quality standards, such as accreditation; specifying levels and types of providers and where the services covered are available, including through implicit or explicit contracts; Medicare in the United States uses selective contracting of facilities for organ transplants, and these specify the technical and facility requirements for participation (102)	Evidence is lacking that selective contracting can improve access to quality services (103, 104).
Reducing copayments or other user fees to encourage patient use of high-quality providers and promote patient adherence	Implementing lower copayments and other financial incentives, such as paying for transportation for a patient to obtain care at a designated facility that offers higher quality care at lower costs (105)	There is low to moderate certainty of evidence that financial incentives improve adherence, the initiation of treatment and utilization (80).
Making geographical price adjustments to ensure compliance with minimum quality standards and support access to quality care for vulnerable populations	In Thailand, price adjustments are made for districts having higher unit costs due to sparse populations, such as mountainous areas or island districts, to ensure adequate funding for operations. The United States' Medicare Wage Index accounts for local market conditions by adjusting national base payment rates to reflect the relative input price level in the local market (102).	The authors could not find empirical studies that evaluate price adjustments.

Purchasing instrument	Examples	Evidence of effect
Reducing payments for sentinel events to penalize health facilities for inappropriate or harmful care	In Australia, hospitals reporting serious medical errors or hospital-acquired infections are not paid. Prices are adjusted downward for hospital-acquired complications after adjusting for patients' characteristics. All states in the United States have nonpayment polices for health care–acquired conditions, such as retaining a foreign object after surgery, stage III and IV pressure ulcers, and surgical or other invasive procedures performed on the wrong body part (102).	Results are inconclusive as to whether nonpayment for hospital-acquired infections reduces the number of adverse events (106); this mechanism may have perverse incentives for reporting or gaming the reimbursement system (107) and result in negative patient outcomes (108).

Many HICs recognize quality care by making the results of quality measures available to health care providers and the public. However, evidence is inconsistent about the effect of this mechanism. A Cochrane review published in 2018 reported inconclusive findings as to whether making information about quality publicly available had an effect on patients' utilization and outcomes (99). A 2008 systematic review of 46 studies found that many public reporting systems have not been evaluated (100). A 2022 study that included public reporting about quality and prices found that making information about quality publicly available may have unanticipated effects by raising prices in facilities with higher quality rankings (101).

Efforts have also been undertaken to reward quality in other ways. Purchasers can redirect volume to and increase volume for providers who have been recognized as delivering high-quality care by using selective contracting for services from these providers. However, a 2017 scoping review of 46 studies reported inconclusive results as to whether channelling patients to preferred providers influenced the quality of care they received (103). A 2022 review concluded that networks created through selective contracting could reduce costs without affecting some quality measures (104). Descriptive case studies have concluded that selective contracting is not politically viable in some settings (109).

The utilization of quality care can be promoted by reducing copayments for patients who see providers who offer better quality care at lower cost; additional payments may be made to cover indirect expenses, such as transportation (105). One 2017 Cochrane review reported (with low-certainty evidence) that financial incentives targeting patients may improve adherence to long-term treatments; moderate-certainty evidence suggests that one-time incentives probably improve patient return for the start or

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report continuation of treatment (80). The review also found moderateand low-certainty evidence that conditional cash transfers and vouchers, respectively, may positively affect health service utilization.

Price adjustments aim to ensure that public payers cover minimum quality standards, for example by ensuring fair payment for quality care in remote or rural areas; however, evaluations of such strategies have not been undertaken. In some settings, penalizing poor quality care is done through withholding payments for sentinel adverse events; however, evidence is lacking that demonstrates the effect of nonpayment on reducing the number of adverse outcomes (78, 106, 107) and, conversely, this strategy may have unintended effects (108).

Fundamental prerequisites for these purchasing initiatives include administrative measures that enable quality improvement, including audits, utilization reviews, continued revision of payment incentives, data and information management systems, and governance structures (10). Data allow for analyses of outlier behaviour and help to inform quality metrics. Many countries have also implemented health technology assessments to ensure that new medical products purchased are of greater value than existing products (110).

1.6 Conclusions

Improving the quality of care for people with chronic conditions is central to accelerating progress towards UHC. Among the initiatives under way to improve quality in many countries are instruments that link payments with the quality of chronic care or with patients' outcomes. Such approaches range from blended, activity-based payments that incorporate incentives for quality care to more complex payment systems that link payments with coordinated patient management. The rigour of studies that evaluate the effects of payment methods varies. Methodologically weak studies based on observational data or without a comparison group tended to report positive effects, while more rigorous studies with control groups or data collected over longer periods reported no or only slight positive effects with higher certainty. The body of evidence from rigorous studies across widely different settings mostly reported weak or inconclusive effects on quality metrics related to chronic care. There is wide heterogeneity in the design of both the interventions and evaluations; however, such differences cannot explain the lower-than-expected effectiveness consistently reported in evaluations of payment methods. Beyond payment methods, countries have implemented other purchasing instruments that seek to align the existing payment infrastructure with quality objectives.



Purchasing for accelerating progress towards quality universal health coverage The evidence of impact is weak or inconclusive for many of these instruments, including price and quality transparency initiatives, selective contracting, and penalties for adverse sentinel events. Financial incentives for patients have demonstrated some effect on patients receiving a better quality of care and are another promising route deserving more research.
Case studies

2.1 Settings and objectives

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report Countries at different income levels have introduced changes in purchasing and payment arrangements to shift from activity-based approaches to incorporating measurements of quality, value and performance. This section focuses on eight case studies that were commissioned to better understand the designs of the different purchasing arrangements that aim to promote quality for chronic care (Box 1). The case studies aim to represent a wide range of payment methods implemented in settings at different income levels and in different geographical regions.

Box 1. Eight case studies commissioned by WKC and OECD to inform this report

1.AUSTRALIA

Hall J, van Gool K, Haywood P, Pearse J, Mazevska D, Yu S, et al. Australian Health Care Homes trial: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.

2.CANADA

Wodchis WP, Rashidian L. Integrated Comprehensive Care programme in Ontario, Canada. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.

3.CHILE

Urriola R, Larrain N. Effect of the payment mix for primary care services on the quality of chronic care in Chile: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development; 2023.

4.CHINA

Long Q, Jia Y, Li J, Lou Z, Liu Y. National Basic Public Health Services Programme in China: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.

5.GERMANY

Lindner LE. Healthy Kinzigtal Programme in Germany: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.

6.INDONESIA

Nappoe SA, Djasri H, Kurniawan MF. Chronic disease management programme (PROLANIS) in Indonesia: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.



7.SOUTH AFRICA

Smith A, Mosam A. Value Care Team model in South Africa: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.

8.SPAIN

Bernal-Delgado E, Angulo-Pueyo E. Purchasing arrangements to strengthen the quality of chronic care in three Spanish autonomous communities: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.

The case studies include models grouped into two categories described here: Chile (111), China (112), Indonesia (113) and South Africa (114) (Table 6); and Australia (115), Canada (116), Germany (117) and Spain (118) (Table 7). Two of the studies are national in scope (China and Indonesia), while the others focus on specific geographical areas. The annual budgets reflect, to a large extent, the population scope, and range from an estimated US\$ 18.4 billion in China to cover the national population to US\$ 1 million in Pretoria, South Africa, to cover 5620 people. Programmes were initiated between 2005 and 2019, and one has since ended (Australia).

The first four studies use capitation payment models (Table 6). The Program Pengelolaan Penyakit Kronis (known as PROLANIS) is a chronic disease management programme in Indonesia. It was designed to promote active management of patients with type 2 diabetes or hypertension, or both, enrolled in the national health insurance programme (known as JKN for Jaminan Kesehatan Nasional). Initiated in 2014, the programme aims to address the problems of poor adherence to medication regimens, patients lost to follow up, weak interactions between the primary care teams and patients, and low participation in prevention activities. Among JKN members (approximately 223 million people, or 83% of the total population), about 1 million have registered for PROLANIS since 2014. More than 22 000 public and private primary level facilities and providers participate. In 2019, to encourage providers to enrol more people, JKN incorporated PROLANIS performance as one of the three indicators used to calculate the capitation payment. The indicators are a minimum 15% contact rate among JKN members (given 40% weight), a nonspecialist referral rate below 2% (weighted at 50%) and a minimum of 5% of patients enrolled in PROLANIS whose blood pressure or blood glucose levels are controlled (weighted at 10%). The monthly capitation payment for providers ranges from US\$ 0.25–1.08 per registered JKN member, based on variation in performance scores and the type of facility. The capitation payment covers approximately 93% of funding for the participating primary care providers. By 2021, enrolment in PROLANIS remained low, which hampered the objectives of the programme to increase adherence to medication and prevention

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report recommendations. By 2021, only 6.5% of public health centres had received 100% of the performance-based capitation payment for having met the minimum targets for the three indicators.

Capitation with performance payments is also used in China's National Basic Public Health Services Programme to ensure equal access to basic public health services. The target group for the incentives is health care staff at more than 45 000 public health centres responsible for delivering the package of basic public health services. First implemented in 2009 to address inequities in capacities to deliver a basic package of public health services, the programme was expanded in 2019 from nine services to 14 services, including hypertension, type 2 diabetes, severe mental disorders and tuberculosis. The standard capitation payment was set centrally and increased incrementally, reaching US\$ 13.00 in 2022. The central, provincial, municipal and county governments cover the costs of the capitation payment. The contributions are primarily determined by funding capacity; for example, the central government covers up to 80% of total funding for 12 low-income provinces. The central government initially recommended that at least 5% of the total capitation payment should be determined by staff performance using a 100-point grading system based on assessments of organizational and financial management (30%), the volume of services delivered (45%) and the Programme's outputs (25%), including the management of patients with hypertension or diabetes. Performance assessments are carried out at each administrative level, where changes can be made to the weighting of the assessment criteria and share of payment used for performance pay, thus resulting in wide variations across regions. Application of the performance criteria resulted in changes to central level allocations to 14 provinces because they had lowerthan-expected performance (i.e. scores <80). Most of these reductions occurred in low-income regions, and these funds were reallocated to 17 other provinces with higher scores. Given that the allocation of resources following performance assessments was regressive, it may have undermined the Programme's overall objective of improving equity, and it may have negatively affected the quality of services in less-developed areas. By 2022, only 0.5% of the total payment from the central government was used for performance-based pay.

The value-based care pilot in Gauteng, Pretoria, South Africa, uses risk-adjusted capitation payments with performance bonuses. Funded by the Government Employees Medical Scheme, a closed, private voluntary insurance scheme for civil servants, it aimed to overcome the limitations of FFS payments, including supplierinduced demand, and to control costs by reducing hospital admissions and shifting care to primary settings. Initiated in 2019, it covers 5620 patients who enrol voluntarily, amounting to 21% of

2 Case studies

the eligible population. The target group for the incentives is four general practitioner (GP) practices and about 17 GPs. The Government Employees Medical Scheme contracts with a private company, PPO Serve, to manage the pilot and payments, which are adjusted for patients' health risks. The performance payment is based on quality scores, ranging from 0 to 100 using 22 metrics at both hospital and primary care levels. Combining the risk-adjusted payment and the performance pay, monthly provider payments amount to about US\$ 15.00 per capita, of which about half is performance-related pay. The model is small in scale and the population is a fraction of each provider's practice. As such, the objective to drive population-level change by shifting care to the primary setting and reducing pressure on hospitals cannot be achieved until there is broader uptake.

The objectives of the Family and Community Integrated Health Care model (Modelo de Atención Integral en Salud Familiar y Comunitaria) in Chile are to ensure access to health care, improve the quality of health services and training of the health workforce, and to increase social participation. Chile funds primary care through a combination of risk-adjusted capitation payments (71% of total), earmarked funding from central government (20%), pay for performance (6%) and municipal allocations (4%). The capitation payments promote equity in resource allocation by adjusting for differences in income, population age structure, rural areas, difficulty in recruiting staff and geographical isolation. Performance payments include fixed and variable components based on the weighted average of ten indicators - of which three relate to chronic care and can amount to an extra 22.2% of the base salary. The case study found that most primary care networks received full performance bonuses by meeting more than 90% of health goals; thus, the effect of the payment incentives was limited. As performance bonuses are calculated from health workers' base salary, they may also reinforce inequalities in salary payments, providing fewer incentives for nonphysician work that is essential for care coordination. Moreover, all health workers receive a 10.3% salary bonus even if the network's performance is poor. In this light, health workers consider the performance bonus to be a given, a situation that limits the effectiveness of the financial incentive to improve the quality of care. Furthermore, only a few of the performance indicators relate to chronic care.

Table 6. Overview of four commissioned case studies for programmes that use capitation models

	Programme			
Description	Chronic Disease Management Programme (PROLANIS) (113)	National Basic Public Health Services Programme (112)	Value Care Team model (114)	Family and Community Integrated Health Care model <i>(111)</i>
Country, region	Indonesia, nationwide	China, nationwide	South Africa, Gauteng province, Pretoria	Chile, La Pintana metropolitan region
Type of payment model	Capitation with performance-based payments	Capitation with performance-based payments	Risk-adjusted capitation with performance-based payments	Risk-adjusted capitation with performance-based payments, municipal budget allocations and earmarked funding
Prior payment model	Capitation	FFS	FFS	Capitation and municipal budget allocations
Year initiated	2019	2009	2019	2012
Main goals of the programme	To improve quality of life for participants in the national health insurance scheme with type 2 diabetes or hypertension, or both	To achieve universal coverage of basic public health services	To optimize care quality and decrease expensive hospital-based care	To provide access to comprehensive care, improve the quality of health services and increase social participation
Intended change to service provision	Integration of care for patients with diabetes or hypertension, and strengthening the gatekeeping function of primary care providers	Equity in capacities for and access to basic public health services	Strengthen care at primary care level and reduce pressure (i.e. costs) at hospitals	Deliver people- centred primary health care
Provider participation	Mandatory for 22 373 public and private primary care providers	Mandatory for more than 45 000 public health centres	Voluntary for 4 general practitioner practices, including 17 general practitioners	Mandatory for 6 municipal primary health care facilities and private contracted providers
Population coverage	948 432; 12–14% of the eligible population	1.4 billion (total population)	5 620; 21% of the eligible population	145 619; 77% of eligible population

	Programme								
Description	Chronic Disease Management Programme (PROLANIS) (113)	National Basic Public Health Services Programme (112)	Value Care Team model (114)	Family and Community Integrated Health Care model (111)					
Monthly payment per capita	US\$ 5.00, amounting to 93% of funding for primary care providers	US\$ 0.65 (targeted total capitation payment inclusive of 5% performance pay)	US\$ 15.00 for good performance, amounting to 25–33% of a provider's income	US\$ 18.40 per capita, inclusive of performance payments, accounting for 22% of salary					
Implementing body	National health insurance agency	Ministry of Finance and provincial, municipal and county governments	Private medical insurance (Government Employees Medical Scheme), private management company (PPO Serve)	Municipality of La Pintana					
Estimated annual budget	US\$ 1 billion from national health insurance for total capitation payments, including for PROLANIS (2021)	US\$ 18.4 billion for total capitation payments (2022)	US\$ 1 million (2022)	US\$ 32.19 million (2021)					

FFS: fee for service.

The other four case studies examine shared savings, bundled payments and global budget mechanisms (Table 7). The Australian Health Care Homes trial was conducted from October 2017 to June 2021. The model aimed to promote multidisciplinary care for patients with chronic disease and included a bundled payment for chronic disease management that covered patient care planning, care team conferences, and enhanced access for patients, such as telephone or after-hours support. Providers continued to be reimbursed through FFS payments for consultations unrelated to chronic disease management. The target group for the incentive was participating private practices, who received an initial payment estimated at US\$ 7462 to invest in the additional capacities required for participation. The payment was made to the practice, with the aim of changing the approach to chronic disease management to reduce inefficiencies. Initially, more than 11 000 patients with one or more chronic and complex diseases enrolled voluntarily across 227 participating primary care practices; however, drop-out rates were high. About 68% of patients and 46% of practices completed the trial. Assessments concluded that the amount of the bundled payments was insufficient for what they were intended to cover. In addition, the limited time for the trial was insufficient for the changes required. Opposition to the programme

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report from some parts of the medical profession contributed to poor results.

Healthy Kinzigtal is an integrated care network in southwest Germany introduced in 2005 with the objectives to promote integrated care for chronic illnesses, improve patients' experience of care and the health of the population, and reduce health care expenditures. Of some 71 000 inhabitants in the region, 33 000 were members of the two participating health insurance funds, of which 8150 (25%) were enrolled in Healthy Kinzigtal in 2020. Participation among providers is voluntary, and includes 24 general practitioners, as well as specialists, hospitals, nursing homes, community centres, pharmacies and gyms. Participating providers receive incentives to promote prevention and improve care coordination, based on a shared-savings arrangement contracted between the two health insurance funds and the programme's management company, formed by the local health providers' network and a German health care management company. Providers are mainly reimbursed based on the usual insurance FFS for standard care and receive add-on payments for services that are not conventionally covered by the participating health insurance funds including preparing case management plans for people with chronic conditions – and performance-based bonuses for meeting quality and performance goals. Savings relative to a risk-adjusted normative average cost of care are shared between the management company and the two health insurance funds. Add-on payments and performance-based bonuses comprise up to 15% of a provider's income, with values around 5% being common. The model's primary objectives and conditions for its long-term success are the improvement of health care and the reduction of costs, with financial self-sustainability achieved in 2007. Given that the overall goal aimed to improve population health, the relatively low patient enrolment may have hindered its achievement.

Table 7. Overview of four of eight commissioned case studies for programmes that use shared savings, bundled payments and global budget mechanisms

	Programme				
Description	Health Care Homes trial (115)	Healthy Kinzigtal (117)	Integrated Comprehensive Care 2.0 programme (116)	Plan for Integrated Diabetes Care (118)	
Country, region	Australia, 10 regions	Germany, State of Baden- Württemberg, Kinzigtal region	Canada, Ontario province, Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant region	Spain, Aragon region	
Type of payment model	Bundled payments for chronic disease management	Shared savings with add-on payments for performance and care coordination	Bundled payments for COPD and CHF	Global budget with framework agreements	
Prior payment model	FFS	Mainly FFS	Case-mix groups	Global budget	
Year initiated	2017–2021 (ended)	2005	2015	2014	
Main goals of the programme	To improve care for people with chronic and complex diseases through delivery of coordinated and comprehensive primary care	To improve health care quality, patients' experience of care and the health of the population, and to reduce per capita costs of health care	To improve efficiency of the health care system by integrating resources across the continuum of care	To improve care for diabetes patients, decrease incidence and multimorbidity, and improve survival and quality of life	
Intended change to the service provision	Enhanced care coordination and ease in patient access	Better coordination of care across providers and care settings, financial self-sustainability of the programme	Better clinical management and outcomes for patients with COPD or CHF	Integration of diabetes care management at primary care level	
Provider participation	Voluntary participation of 227 care practices enrolled; 106 (46%) completed trial	Voluntary participation of 24 general practitioners, 41 specialists, 3 psychotherapists, 7 hospitals, 11 physiotherapists, 10 nursing homes, 5 home care services, 16 pharmacies, 38 sports clubs and associations, and 8 gyms (2020)	Voluntary participation of 9 hospitals (7% of 122 hospitals in Ontario and 10% of all Ontario hospital volume) (2021)	All primary care providers, hospitals and specialists in region	

	Programme			
Description	Health Care Homes trial <i>(115)</i>	Healthy Kinzigtal (117)	Integrated Comprehensive Care 2.0 programme (116)	Plan for Integrated Diabetes Care (118)
Population coverage	11 332 enrolled; 7 742 (68%) completed trial	8 150 (11% of total population and 25% of eligible population, 2020)	3 010 patients (44% of eligible population, 2015– 2018)	94 000 people with diabetes diagnosis enrolled (2021)
Monthly payment levels	On average, US\$ 87.00 per patient and US\$ 7 247 per practice	5–15% of a provider's income	Average payment to a typical hospital was US\$ 7 667 for COPD and US\$ 8 721 for CHF (2015–2018)	Not available
Implementing body	Australian national (Commonwealth) government through Medicare programme	Healthy Kinzigtal Ltd, a regional, integrated care management company	Ontario Ministry of Health and Long- Term Care	Regional Health Service in Aragon
Estimated annual budget	US\$ 15.9 million over 4 years	Undisclosed	US\$ 9.9 million	Not available

FFS: fee for service; CHF: congestive heart failure; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

The Integrated Comprehensive Care project began in one hospital in 2012 in Ontario, Canada, and has been expanded to a regional programme with 3010 patients voluntarily enrolled during 2015-2018 (44% of the eligible population) in nine hospitals that account for 10% of hospital discharges in Ontario. It aimed to improve the efficiency of the health care system by integrating resources across acute and postacute care at home by using integrated bundled payments for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) or congestive heart failure (CHF). The payments are adjusted by hospital-specific case-mix weights to compensate hospitals that care for patients with complex needs and to reduce the incentive to select patients with lower care needs. Patients who are readmitted after the 60-day period covered by the payment are not counted within the previous episode of care and the readmission effectively triggers a new event, resulting in a new provider payment. Results from the initiative during 2015–2018 showed positive trends in patient utilization outcomes. Challenges include low patient enrolment among those who were satisfied with their current home care arrangements; the 60-day time frame for an episode, given that many patients returned for care after 60 days and were counted as new cases; weak information-sharing across different providers; insufficient adjustment for patients' risk; and a lack of attention to nonmedical determinants of health.



In Spain, regional governments implemented a range of initiatives with the aim to deliver integrated, person-centred care, promote value through the delivery of appropriate care for high-need patients, and improve health outcomes for patients with chronic illnesses. In 2014, the Regional Health Department in Aragon implemented the Plan for Integrated Diabetes Care in all public primary care facilities.⁴ The initiative identified health services and access conditions by specifying roles and referral rules. Global budgeting is complemented with guidance identifying which high-value services will be purchased from which care providers and specifying rules for referring patients. By 2021, 94 000 patients had enrolled. Trend data illustrated an increase in the utilization of targeted services, including diabetic foot and eye examinations, and reductions in avoidable hospitalizations.

2.2 Key design features

Tables 6, 7 and 8 summarize some key design features identified in the eight case studies.

2.2.1 Intended change to health systems

For most of these studies, the focus of system change was to strengthen primary care management of patients with chronic disease, usually to reduce pressure on referral hospitals. The programmes in Australia, Chile, China, Indonesia and Spain emphasized equity in access to care and medications for patients. Those in Canada, Germany and South Africa emphasized care coordination across hospital and primary care levels; in Germany and South Africa, they specified the dual goal of ensuring better clinical management and controlling expenditures, and the model in Germany also targeted financial self-sustainability. For the programmes in Canada, China and Indonesia, targeted change was improved disease management among individuals with chronic diseases including easing access to services and prevention activities.

2.2.2 Participation of providers

In four of the case studies, providers voluntarily participated in the schemes. While some may do so because they support the change in emphasis from volume to value (e.g. in Australia), others may choose to participate voluntarily only if there is an incentive to do so. Only 10% of hospitals in Ontario, Canada, participated in the bundled payments scheme. Voluntary models may increase the

⁴ Two other examples of approaches and purchasing instruments implemented in the Basque County and in Navarre are illustrated in the case study for Spain.



Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report adverse selection of providers in that those who have belowaverage costs have incentives to join. Providers may also disenroll if they sustain financial losses. For example, the Australian Health Care Homes trial reported voluntary participation of 227 care practices at the start of the initiative, of which 106 (46%) completed the trial after they had received the US\$ 7462 payment at start up. While such start-up incentives may be needed to encourage investment in quality improvements, other authors have observed that such incentives, where provided with no conditions, may result in low return on investment for payers if providers disenroll *(119)*.

2.2.3 Voluntary enrolment of participants

Most of the programmes aimed for health improvements by focusing on a population within a geographical region. Yet in all but two cases (China and Spain), participant enrolment was voluntary. As such, the aim to improve population health was inhibited in most studies by relatively low, voluntary patient enrolment. Patients may enrol for different reasons, such as response to financial incentives, satisfaction with existing health care providers and health status. This selective enrolment complicates appropriate service delivery and levels of care provision and presents an important bias in the evaluation of impact. Within the patient population of the nine hospitals in Ontario, Canada (representing 10% of hospital volume), less than 50% of eligible patients were enrolled. Given patient selection related to voluntary enrolment, many programmes adjusted for risk and patient care complexity so that providers would not exclude people that might have more severe conditions. In terms of the evaluation in Ontario, for example, hospital administrative data lacked details about disease severity across the population groups, thus making it difficult to identify differences in clinical severity between the intervention and comparator populations.

2.2.4 Nonfinancial incentives

Most of the case studies assumed that the quality of care and providers' performance can be improved primarily by financial incentives. However, poor quality can result from a lack of training, essential medicines or supplies; low efforts made by health care providers; or discrimination in treating patients. There were some important efforts to provide professional recognition or access to training, feedback or information. In China, the two provincial governments surveyed had programmes that gave awards to primary health care providers for outstanding work. In Germany, providers were given performance feedback and access to data infrastructure, which served as nonfinancial incentives. The Ontario scheme was thought to have improved the reputations of participating providers, which is considered an important motivating factor.



2.2.5 Service delivery elements and health information systems

In five of these case studies, changes to payment methods were accompanied by other service delivery interventions, with the intention of providing incentives to deliver services in a better way (Table 8). As such, the payment instruments formed a key component within a broader approach to improving service delivery and health outcomes *(120)*.

Improvements in human resources capacity featured prominently. Initiatives included supporting new categories of health professionals in specialized areas or allied health services (i.e. in China, South Africa, Spain), health promotion professionals (i.e. in Indonesia), and care coordinators and practice transformation coaches (i.e. in South Africa). Developing training materials and conducting training for existing staff to increase their capacity to better manage patients with chronic diseases occurred in Australia, China and Spain. The initiative in South Africa introduced the teambased approach to care provision. China promoted partnerships between hospitals and primary care facilities to support training and capacity development.

Most of the case studies also involved making improvements in health information systems. New information systems were introduced in Indonesia and South Africa. Specific data collection platforms and personal health records were established in China, and a dashboard system to monitor and benchmark progress was introduced in Spain. In Australia, participating practices had to install and use shared-care planning software to develop a care plan and share it with providers outside of their practice, as well as with the patient and their family or carer.

The programme in Germany engaged a wide range of providers and facilities to increase patient enrolment in its programme, including allied health professionals, long-term care facilities and their professionals, pharmacies and sports clubs. In Indonesia, stronger linkages were made with pharmacy and laboratory networks to improve access to diagnostics and medicines for patient management. In addition, linkages were made to the community. One criterion for the PROLANIS programme in Indonesia was to establish a club with at least 30 patient members to carry out health promotion activities. In Chile, a key objective of the programme was to ensure community engagement; as such, citizen's dialogues were established that encouraged the participation of community members and social organizations.

Table 8. Investments in capacity building that accompanied the introduction of the different purchasing models¹

	Programme										
Area of	Chronic Disease Management Programme (PROLANIS) (113)	National Basic Public Health Services Programme (112)	Value Care Team model (114)	Family and Community Integrated Health Care model (111)	Health Care Homes trial <i>(115)</i>	Plan for Integrated Diabetes Care <i>(118)</i>					
capacity building	Indonesia, nationwide	China, nationwide	South Africa, Gauteng province, Pretoria	Chile, La Pintana metropolitan region	Australia, 10 regions	Spain, Aragon region					
Human resources	Physical activity instructors and health promoters	Medical alliances between hospitals and primary care facilities to support capacity development Large-scale health worker training, including online platforms and professional certificates On-site trainings as well as specialized training	Multidisciplinary team-based care and care coordinators Practice transformation coach Established 0.4–0.6 full-time equivalent allied health professionals	Health care team approach	Local training and national training materials Independent advisory group	Primary care nurses trained in patient education and patient self-management New professional roles: diabetic foot nurse, retinography specialist Training materials in health education					
Health information systems	Newly designed health information application	Specific data collection platforms Newly designed personal health records	Health information system that follows the patient		New shared-care planning software Risk stratification tool	Monitoring and benchmarking dashboard					

	Programme					
Area of capacity building	Chronic Disease Management Programme (PROLANIS) (113)	National Basic Public Health Services Programme (112)	Value Care Team model (114)	Family and Community Integrated Health Care model (111)	Health Care Homes trial <i>(115)</i>	Plan for Integrated Diabetes Care (118)
	Indonesia, nationwide	China, nationwide	South Africa, Gauteng province, Pretoria	Chile, La Pintana metropolitan region	Australia, 10 regions	Spain, Aragon region
Links to	Clubs to promote			Citizen's dialogues		
community- based initiatives	physical activity Links to pharmacy and laboratory networks			Participation of social organizations		
Accreditation prerequisites for provider participation	Primary care accreditation requirements and optional requirements to establish health clubs		Providers who serve patients insured by the Government Employees Medical Scheme in a selected geographical area, willingness to participate	Registered with National Registry of Individual Health Providers or Accredited Providers	Accreditation standards of the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners	

¹ In China, experiences varied widely by province and municipality; those components noted may be limited to a specific region (or regions). For Germany's Healthy Kinzigtal programme, the only information provided was about the establishment of the private management company. For the programme in Ontario, Canada, no information was provided by the authors of the case study. Empty cells indicate that the category is not applicable.

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report

2.3 Quality measurements

Table 9 summarizes the quality measurements used for monitoring and evaluation of the schemes. These are generally described as structure, process and outcome measures. Table 10 describes the attributes of these measures.

Information provided in the case studies reveals the quality measures used to monitor these schemes. The measures vary by the health care level (i.e. primary, secondary or tertiary) in which the scheme is being deployed. Most of the studies focus on primary care. A mix of process and outcomes measures was used in all studies. In China, the scheme included structural measures to monitor progress. Seven of the eight models used process measures that focused on access to primary health care and prevention measures, reflecting, to a large extent, alignment with the overall intended health system change to promote the use of primary care. Many of the programmes aim for coordination and patient-centred care, which requires going beyond disease-specific measures. However, such quality measurements were not typically used in these studies. Several programmes used measures of hospital admissions and length of stay, medication adherence and coordination between primary care and hospitals.

Some measures of process quality can be controlled by the health care provider and thus may reflect more accurately their activities. In many cases, the measures of quality are based on established clinical protocols endorsed by professional peers. Metrics that measure compliance with clinical protocols established by professional associations may provide additional incentives for providers to work towards the intended outcomes. In these cases, the process measures appear to be strong predictors of targeted health outcomes, for example, the management of patients with hypertension or diabetes.

All studies used clinical outcomes to monitor programmes. Most relied on administrative data, such as laboratory results, which are practical for reporting objective measures. However, by using existing data collection and information systems, it is difficult to disentangle actual changes in the delivery of care from improvements in reporting. Four of the case studies used measures of patient satisfaction, which required special surveys. In three of these programmes, the results were made public. Given the nature of chronic care and the importance of self-management, patient involvement and adherence are important factors driving these outcomes. In most cases, the studies emphasized the challenges faced in that some process and outcome measures are outside the control of the health care provider. Moreover, while it is recognized that the quality of care for complex and chronic conditions

2 Case studies

encompasses the concepts of integration, coordination and care for patients with multimorbidity (58-61), these case studies did not include measurements of these concepts.

Five of the eight programmes adjusted their quality measures for patient health risk and complexity. Accurate risk adjustment can help ensure that providers do not face incentives that inhibit them from caring for the sickest patients. If no risk adjustments are made, comparisons or assessments of performance may also be unfair to providers working with patient populations and case-mix differences that reflect higher health risks or in regions with challenging socioeconomic factors.

In three case studies, there was a discrepancy between the quality measures used for calculating payments and the quality metrics that were used for monitoring and evaluations. This is primarily related to data availability and quality, as gaps may exist in the data available to measure quality and the aspects of care that are targeted for change. In some cases, however, performance assessments may make some assumptions and judgments about providers that reflect data availability rather than the quality of care provided. Many of the authors documented unintended consequences, such as avoidance of high-risk patients or underreporting; however, such consequences do not appear to have been anticipated since they were not captured by monitoring and evaluation systems.

Regarding setting targets for performance, many schemes use fixed, uniform targets for the quality indicators, and success was defined by the absolute performance achieved. In the case studies from China and Indonesia, for example, a programme was successful if a quality indicator reached a fixed target, primarily linked to objectives set forth in national plans and goals. However, some regions faced more challenges because they had less capacity. In some instances, such as in Indonesia, the providers felt that the uniform targets were unattainable, particularly in remote areas where patients had limited access to care and patient recruitment was more difficult.

In Canada, success was measured in relation to a comparison group or what would have happened if the programme had not been implemented. This approach considers other ongoing interventions that may improve quality. In some settings, there were no quantifiable goals, and performance was measured as trends over time. Such subjectivity may have made it difficult to determine whether programmes were successful. Table 9. Summary of quality measures used for monitoring and evaluation of the programmes¹

	Programme							
	Chronic Disease Management Programme (PROLANIS) (113)	National Basic Public Health Services Programme (112)	Value Care Team model (114)	Family and Community Integrated Health Care model (111)	Health Care Homes trial (115)	Healthy Kinzigtal (117)	Integrated Comprehensive Care 2.0 programme (116)	Plan for Integrated Diabetes Care (118)
Quality measures used	Indonesia, nationwide	China, nationwide	South Africa, Gauteng province, Pretoria	Chile, La Pintana metropolitan region	Australia, 10 regions	Germany, state of Baden- Württemberg, Kinzigtal region	Canada, Ontario province, Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant region	Spain, Aragon region
Structure								
Organizational and financial management structures		+						
Process								
Access to primary health care and prevention care	+	+	+	+	+	+		+
Hospital admissions or length of stay			+			+	+	+
Patient medication adherence		+	+			+		
Outcomes								
Clinical	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

	Programme	Programme							
	Chronic Disease Management Programme (PROLANIS) (113)	National Basic Public Health Services Programme (112)	Value Care Team model (114)	Family and Community Integrated Health Care model (111)	Health Care Homes trial <i>(115)</i>	Healthy Kinzigtal (117)	Integrated Comprehensive Care 2.0 programme (116)	Plan for Integrated Diabetes Care (118)	
Quality measures used	Indonesia, nationwide	China, nationwide	South Africa, Gauteng province, Pretoria	Chile, La Pintana metropolitan region	Australia, 10 regions	Germany, state of Baden- Württemberg, Kinzigtal region	Canada, Ontario province, Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant region	Spain, Aragon region	
Adverse health events			+			+	+	+	
Hospital readmissions			+			+	+		
Patient satisfaction		+		+	+	+	+		
Patient knowledge		+		+		+	+		
Patient ability to self-manage						+	+		
Used for calculating payment	Yes	Yes ²	Yes	Yes	No	Yes ³	No	NA	

¹ A + symbol indicates that a programme uses a particular measure; empty cells indicate that the programme does not.

² In China, a limited subset of quality measures was used for performance assessments, including structure and process measures (e.g. organizational and financial management, the volume of and minimum quality standard for services delivered).

³ In Germany, the quality indicators are used for performance bonuses, but the indicators are not publicly available and may differ from those listed.

Table 10. Features of quality measures used by the programmes

	Programme							
	Chronic Disease Management Programme (PROLANIS) (113)	National Basic Public Health Services Programme (112)	Value Care Team model (114)	Family and Community Integrated Health Care model <i>(111)</i>	Health Care Homes trial (115)	Healthy Kinzigtal ¹ (117)	Integrated Comprehensive Care 2.0 programme <i>(116)</i>	Plan for Integrated Diabetes Care <i>(118)</i>
Features	Indonesia, nationwide	China, nationwide	South Africa, Gauteng province, Pretoria	Chile, La Pintana metropolitan region	Australia, 10 regions	Germany, state of Baden- Württemberg, Kinzigtal region	Canada, Ontario province, Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant region	Spain, Aragon region

Alignment with programme objectives

Alignment with intended system change	+	+/-	-	+/-	+/-	NA	-	+
Weighted for importance	+	+	+	+	-	NA	-	-
All or partially activity based	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Measuring unintended consequences	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fully under the control of the provider	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Measurement issues

Consideration of								
patients'	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	-
preferences								

	Programme								
	Chronic Disease Management Programme (PROLANIS) (113)	National Basic Public Health Services Programme (112)	Value Care Team model (114)	Family and Community Integrated Health Care model (111)	Health Care Homes trial <i>(115)</i>	Healthy Kinzigtal ¹ (117)	Integrated Comprehensive Care 2.0 programme <i>(116)</i>	Plan for Integrated Diabetes Care (118)	
Features	Indonesia, nationwide	China, nationwide	South Africa, Gauteng province, Pretoria	Chile, La Pintana metropolitan region	Australia, 10 regions	Germany, state of Baden- Württemberg, Kinzigtal region	Canada, Ontario province, Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant region	Spain, Aragon region	
Adjustments for patient care complexity	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	
Targets adjusted by locality or over time	-	-	+	+	-	NA	-	+	
Data collection, an	alysis and publicat	tion							
Benchmarks used Special surveys or			+	-	-	+	+	+	
data collection	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	

NA: not available. A + symbol indicates that a programme uses a particular measure; a – symbol indicate that the programme does not.

¹ For Germany, the information is based on the case study and information about quality indicators is not publicly available and may differ from the information provided in published reports.

+

+

+

+

instruments

Results made

public

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report

Two models aimed to improve patient care while reining in expenditures (i.e. in Canada and South Africa). The German model has been able to sustain itself financially exclusively through the funds it received from the shared-savings arrangement. For the programmes in Canada and Germany, spending benchmarks are generated to determine whether cost savings or cost neutrality was successful. However, it is important to note that in the case of Germany, reductions in expenditures at the provider level did not necessarily imply expenditure decreases for patients as shared savings are distributed differently among providers and the health insurance funds. Spending benchmarks aim to project future costs across the population or episodes of care – for example, for CHF or COPD in the case of Ontario, Canada – using average historical costs during prior years based on regional or national averages. As costs vary over time and regions, such benchmarks may lock in inefficiencies. As all three models in Canada, Germany and South Africa are voluntary, providers below the benchmarks may be more willing to participate than those above them. Such national or regional benchmarks combined with adverse selection may result in the appearance of cost savings when this is not actually occurring.

2.4 Structure of financial incentives

The target groups for the financial incentives across these programmes included individual providers as well as groups or practices. Except for the programmes in Australia and Spain, which did not include provider incentives, payments were made to budget holders at primary health facilities (in China, Chile and Indonesia), group practices (in South Africa), hospitals as budget holders (in Canada) or a private management company (in Germany).

Table 11 illustrates the design of the reward structure in five programmes for which this information was provided: Australia, China, Chile, Indonesia and South Africa. In each of these cases, changes were intended to occur at the primary care level. As such, the primary care facilities, networks and practices were the entities that received the financial incentive. The means of distribution within the facility or network varied widely across the studies and within the settings themselves.
 Table 11. Programme design components: reward structure¹

	Programme						
	Chronic Disease Management Programme (PROLANIS)(113)	National Basic Public Health Services Programme (112)	Value Care Team model (114)	Family and Community Integrated Health Care model (111)	Health Care Homes trial (115)		
Design component	Indonesia, nationwide	China, nationwide	South Africa, Gauteng province, Pretoria	Chile, La Pintana metropolitan region	Australia, 10 regions		
Entity that receives payment	Public and private primary health care facilities	Public primary health care facilities, ranked by performance	Private general practitioner practices	Primary health care networks	Private primary practice		
Distribution of payment	In public facilities, up to 40% of payment can be distributed to participating individuals. In private facilities, arrangements vary.	Distribution varies by region; some elements of national quality criteria are used for determining individual payments, including to village doctors.	Practices distribute payment among the practice owner and multidisciplinary team based on benchmarked performance.	Payments are made to staff (medical and auxiliary health staff and administrators) as a share of their income.	Three levels of payments are made based on patients' needs for coordination and care.		
Frequency of payments	Monthly	Annually	Every 6 months	Every 3 months	Monthly		
Payment per month	US\$ 0.25–1.15 per registered member of the national health insurance scheme, depending on the provider's capacity	Estimated maximum US\$ 0.05 per person (5% of total capitation payment)	Maximum US\$ 15.00 per health professional	10.3% to 22.2% of base salary	On average US\$ 87.00 per patient and US\$ 7 247 per practice		
Penalty	Withholding of capitation payment	Withholding of performance-based share of payment	None	Withholding or reduction of payment if goals are not reached	None		

¹ Germany is omitted from this table because payment information is not publicly available. The information for Canada was not provided in the case study by the authors. The information for Chile refers to the pay-for-performance payment because this is the only payment that affects the salaries of the workforce. In Aragon, Spain, there is no specific reward.

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report In the national programmes in China and Indonesia, the facility determine the distribution to staff. In China, there is an emphasis on supporting village doctors responsible for outreach to communities, and efforts are made to use national criteria to evaluate performance as the basis for payment. Given the wide variation in distributions, even at the facility level, uncertainty about whether a payment would be received may have undermined impact in both countries. This may have been particularly true in China, given that the amount of the payment is determined once a year based on multiple performance assessments at different administrative levels.

South African private GP practices use performance benchmarks. In Chile, notably, all staff are provided with performance-related payments, including administrators, in recognition of their roles in patient care and coordination. Group incentives may be more effective in the context of care that requires teams of providers, although this may depend on the size of the group and relationships among them, and decisions made about funds allocation within the facility (121). However, theory suggests that group-level incentives depend on the size of the group and the extent to which any one person can "free ride" on others (where someone may benefit from the incentives without making a contribution to the programme); as such, effects may decline as the group's size increases (122).

The amount of the financial incentives varies widely for individual providers and practice groups or systems. In some cases, additional funds were provided to cover costs incurred from making investments in quality, either structurally or in care processes (e.g. in Australia). It is usually assumed that larger incentives lead to larger improvements in quality. While some reviews cite a small incentive size as a possible contributing factor to poor outcomes (123), we found no studies that have established clear guidance as to what the appropriate size may be (124).

The number of enrolled patients also affects the impact of financial incentives. In South Africa, the quality-linked payments are a significant share of reimbursement at the level of the individual patient. However, the low patient volume and the small scale of implementation resulted in relatively low aggregate levels of incentives that were insufficient to drive the large changes in providers' behaviour needed to achieve a change in service delivery that would result in a measurable impact over a relatively short period.

Perhaps more importantly, the incentives need to balance or offset any negative incentives in base payment methods. In some studies, the payments were relatively small and incremental; as such reward payments or penalties may not have been sufficient to counter the much stronger incentives in the activity-based payment methods that produce a larger share of provider revenues. In Germany, for example, it is unclear whether this balance has been achieved.

2 Case studies

In Chile, China and Indonesia, payments could also be withheld. Based on the principle of risk and loss aversion, theory suggests that financial rewards for quality may have smaller effects than penalties (21). In their 2019 Cochrane review, Mathes et al. (78) noted that penalizing hospitals through nonpayment for failing to reach performance targets seemed to be slightly more effective than making additional payments for performance, but this conclusion was based on low-certainty evidence. Moreover, these case studies do not support this finding. The Indonesian study cites payment withholding as problematic, more so in the absence of risk adjustment, by creating resentment among providers who consequently selectively enrolled healthier patients who were more willing to adhere to medical advice. In China, withholding payments based on performance assessments was regressive as it occurred primarily in resource-poor regions, and the funds were allocated to better-performing areas. Taking away financial resources from providers make it more difficult for them to make the necessary changes to improve the quality of care, thus undermining the overall objective of the programme. In Chile, withholding the maximum bonus was possible; however, in practice, most providers received 100% of the performance-based bonus.

2.5 Evaluation of impact

Several key issues related to the evaluation of payment and purchasing mechanisms are well documented in the literature and discussed in Section 1. A key issue in both the case studies and evaluation literature is the general lack of rigorous evaluation. Indeed, only Indonesia and German case studies documented in this report have undergone rigorous independent evaluation that was then peer-reviewed and published. While many programmes use monitoring data and report on trends, such data cannot enable conclusions about impact with any certainty, as such data do not control for other extraneous factors or concurrent programmes.

Because of the complexity of payment arrangements, methodological challenges were faced by studies evaluating these programmes. In their Cochrane review, Diaconu et al. (76) discussed the major sources of selection bias as that resulting from voluntary participation in incentive schemes and that arising from a lack of comparison groups. Studies typically lack randomization and allocation concealment. While it may be impractical to employ random assignment to intervention and control groups, some researchers have employed more sophisticated analytical techniques to address selection bias, such as difference-indifferences analysis. Such techniques can also be used to control for other factors that may vary between intervention and control

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report groups, including population risk and other time-varying factors.

Another methodological barrier is accounting for spillover effects from other programmes. In the case of China, for example, several national health reforms were undertaken at the same time as the programme was implemented. Isolating the impact of a specific intervention or payment reform poses a major methodological challenge to evaluations (89). Challenges have also arisen in evaluations of payment mechanisms that use quality improvements as outcomes. Quality metrics for intervention participants can be collected through routine or specialized data collection throughout the intervention period. As such, to evaluate a model, a baseline should be measured across key dimensions to avoid implementing the model and the metrics at the same time. It may be more difficult and costly to collect similar data for controls, particularly in cases in which the control group is identified during a later evaluation phase, thus leading to differences in the quality measures available for evaluation (89).

Two of the programmes detailed in the case studies have undergone rigorous evaluation and peer review. Table 12 summarizes the results of these evaluations for the programmes in Germany and Indonesia.

In Indonesia, Sambodo et al. (125) studied the effect of capitation plus performance-based financing on the three incentivized outcomes, including its impact on the PROLANIS programme discussed in the case study. The authors used a difference-indifferences study design and focused on early programme impacts in public health centres between 2015 and 2016. To reduce bias, the authors used coarsened exact matching (126) to identify comparable control districts. They tested the parallel trends assumption from unobserved time-varying confounders under the difference-in-differences study design by comparing the preintervention trends for treated and control groups in the seven months before performance-based capitation payment was announced. They reported that weighted pre-implementation trends were almost identical for treated and control groups, increasing the likelihood that the parallel trend assumption holds.

The evaluation found a 0.578 percentage point increase in the monthly percentage of enrolees contacting a public health centre, and a 1.15 percentage point increase among chronically ill patients. The authors reported no statistically significant effect on referral rates to hospitals for conditions not requiring specialist care. While the size of the impact was statistically significant, the authors note that it was far below the programme's targets. The increase of 48% in overall contact rate compared with the baseline rate of just 1.2% still left most public health centres below the target threshold of 15%. For chronically ill patients, the small statistically significant

2 Case studies

increase does not reach the targeted threshold of 50%. The authors concluded that the performance-based capitation reform was not effective in promoting greater use of primary care as the results were far below targeted levels. We note that the evaluation focuses on very early results from the payment scheme, and modifications to the programme have been implemented since 2016, as detailed in the case study.

In Germany, Schubert et al. designed and implemented an evaluation of the shared-savings model designed to promote integrated care in the Kinzigtal region (127, 128). The authors used a quasi-experimental design that included persons covered by a large private health insurer in the intervention region with controls in 13 comparable regions and a random sample of persons insured with the same health insurer in the state of Baden-Württemberg (excluding the Kinzigtal region) to evaluate the impact of the programme on trends in pre-established quality indicators over ten years (2006–2015). The evaluation reported no difference in quality indicators between the intervention and control regions for 88 of the 101 indicators. The authors noted, however, that under the cost-savings goal of the programme, there was no reduction in care quality during the study period. The authors cite the limitations inherent in using insurance claims data, including the omission of conditions outside of routine reporting systems and the absence of patient-reported outcomes that are important to chronic disease management.

Evaluations have been undertaken for the schemes in Australia and Canada, but these have not been published as peer-reviewed journal articles. Those results are summarized in the case studies, with the limitations noted. Table 12. Results of published peer-reviewed evaluations of purchasing programmes in Germany and Indonesia

Study	Study design	Aim	Intervention	Study funder	Locations where care provided
Sambodo et al. (125)	Difference in differences	To evaluate the effects of the performance- based financing scheme on its three incentivized outcomes	Capitation- based payments with performance- based payments	Indonesia Endowment for Education and Erasmus University, Rotterdam, Netherlands	560 public primary care facilities in 27 of 34 provincial capitals, Indonesia
Schubert et al. (127, 128)	Quasi- experimental with a control group	To investigate trends in the quality of care over 10 years in comparison to conventional care	Shared-savings contract	Innovation Committee of the Federal Joint Committee, a private insurer in Baden- Württemberg and Healthy Kinzigtal	Kinzigtal region, Germany

Study population	Control or comparator population	Data collection methods	Time period	Analysis	Outcomes reported	Bias reported
Population enrolled in the national health insurance programme in 27 intervention districts	300 comparable non-capital control districts using coarsened exact matching	Health insurance claims data from a stratified 1% sample of members	2015 to 2016	Two-way fixed effects regression model	0.578 and 1.15 percentage point increase in the monthly percentage of enrolees and chronically ill enrolees, respectively, contacting a public health centre	Parallel trends assumption
All persons insured with private company in the Kinzigtal region	Persons insured in the 13 control regions and a sample of those insured in the state of Baden- Württemberg but excluding the Kinzigtal region	Claims data collected by a large statutory health insurance provider in Germany	2006 to 2015	Logistic regression evaluating trends between the intervention and control groups	For 88 of the 101 quality indicators, no difference was seen in trends over time between the intervention region and the average trend in the control regions	Limitations in using claims data

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report

2.6 Facilitating and inhibiting factors

While the impact of a payment arrangement is critically important, equally important is an understanding about why and how a programme could have resulted in better quality. In many of the case studies, the authors did not have a definite explanation for the exact mechanisms that could have enabled the positive effects. Most recognized that it was a host of contributory mechanisms. Case study authors have identified a series of factors that both facilitated and inhibited the implementation of the payment and purchasing arrangements (Tables 13 and 14).

One of the more important facilitating factors is the overall **governance structure**. Strong leadership and transparent and participatory governance were facilitating factors in many settings. This was evidenced in certain schemes by the alignment of a programme's goals with national health goals and targets, and sometimes included the establishment of national policies and quality standards. In several countries, leadership was supported by technical advisory groups and clinical leadership to address implementation challenges. Leadership is also especially important since implementing alternative payment methods often involves creating new entities that are in charge of managing and distributing budgets as well as coordinating participating providers.

Given that many of the schemes implemented payments to align with and provide incentives for improved **service delivery**, key facilitating factors included the strong involvement of different stakeholders. In many settings, programmes engaged with health professionals and patients and, in one programme, community and social organizations were engaged in implementation. Capacity development was prioritized in some programmes, and staff were provided with additional training. In some countries, there was a recognition that changing payment and service delivery models required a different set of capabilities than those used in activitybased payment systems. Facilitation and communication mechanisms were enhanced for care coordination and connected to different programmes for the management of chronic diseases. In addition, efforts were made to support performance through feedback and establish clinical pathways and care guidelines for providers to improve **quality**.

Table 13. Facilitating factors for payment and purchasing arrangements

Category	Example
	Strong leadership and financial commitments from purchaser (Australia, China, Indonesia, South Africa, Spain)
	Alignment of the programme's goals with national health goals and targets (Chile, China, Indonesia)
Governance	Independent technical advisory group or clinical leadership to support implementation (Australia, Germany, Spain)
	Desire for change towards more integrated service delivery (South Africa)
	Nationwide scope (China, Indonesia)
	Long project duration (Germany)
	National policies and strategies for improving quality in place (China, Indonesia)
	Strong involvement of nursing and medical specialists (Spain), physicians (Canada, Germany) or patients (Germany)
Sonvico dolivony	Participation of community and social organizations (Chile)
Service delivery	Training for staff (Australia, Spain)
	Care coordination elements (South Africa)
	Connection among different programmes with similar goals for managing patients with chronic disease (Indonesia)
Ouality management	Regular feedback on providers' performance (Germany)
	Care guidelines developed (Germany, Spain) and clinical pathways developed (Canada, Spain)
Health information	Centralized health information system (Indonesia, Spain), electronic health records (Germany), health information systems for public health programme (China), or health information systems that follow the patient (South Africa)
systems	Infrastructure for information systems (Canada)
	Systems for ongoing monitoring of quality that enabled decision-making (Germany, Spain)
	Risk stratification tool (Australia)
Financial factors	Substantial start-up funding (Australia, Germany)
	Payments aligned with model of care (Australia)
	New payment mechanisms frequently require significant investments in health information systems and technology. Most of the schemes described in the case studies documented important investments and capacity-building in health information systems, including in electronic health records, and other means to integrate health information and use data for quality improvements. In two programmes, financial elements that were facilitating factors included substantial start-up funding for the payment scheme. It was also noted that aligning payments with the service delivery model is beneficial.



Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report Case study authors also identified key inhibiting factors that prevented effective implementation and impact (Table 14). In terms of critical **governance** issues, the most common inhibiting factors were a lack of coordination and communication among leading participating institutions. Other factors included a lack of support among medical professionals for new models of payment and the challenge of implementing pilots within a broader payment environment with contradictory incentives. Regulatory issues were also mentioned where they prohibited new clinical roles or feesharing across different categories of health providers. Inhibiting factors also included a lack of transparency that limited the ability to make improvements to the programme and limited learning over time.

Table 14. Inhibiting factors for payment and purchasing arrangements

Category	Example
	Lack of coordination or communication, or both, between health insurance programme and national health programmes for chronic disease management run by same public health staff (Indonesia), between public health and noncommunicable disease control programmes (China) or between hospitals and primary care staff (Spain) and health department and department for health information (Spain)
	Lack of support among some medical professionals for new models (Australia, South Africa)
Governance	Decisions made for short-term problems rather than long-term objectives (Spain)
	Small-scale pilots that change payment methods are difficult to implement in fee-for-service environment (South Africa)
	Legal framework for civil servants that did not accommodate new clinical roles (Spain)
	Regulations preventing sharing fees across health professionals and provider groups (South Africa)
	Lack of transparency limiting improvements to programme and information about lessons learned (Germany)
	Low health provider participation in programme inhibiting population-level change (Australia, South Africa)
Service delivery	Lack of incentives for or barriers to patients enrolling resulting in low uptake that inhibited population change (Canada, Germany, Indonesia, South Africa) or leading to risk selection (Germany)
	Home care services poorly integrated into health system provision (Canada)
	Difficult to monitor variation in implementation of programme across regions (China, Indonesia)
	Insufficient attention to broader social determinants of chronic disease management among patients (all settings)

Category	Example				
	Insufficient attention to equipment and supplies, including access to medicine, necessary to meet quality targets (Australia, China, Indonesia)				
	Clinical or patient management protocols not updated over time (China)				
Quality management	Insufficient attention to having sufficient qualified human resources (China, Indonesia) or high staff turnover (Australia)				
	Insufficient attention to patients' perceptions of quality (Chile)				
	Health care providers do not discuss or engage with performance reports, thus limiting their impact (South Africa)				
	Some professionals reluctant to use new tools, such as an information dashboard (Spain)				
	Lack of interoperability of new information systems with national health information systems (Australia, Indonesia)				
	Lack of information technology standards across regions that inhibit data- sharing (China), or between primary care and hospital levels (Chile)				
Health information systems	Additional time needed for complying with information system requirements was burdensome and complex (Australia, Indonesia)				
	Data quality concerns related to heavy reporting burdens (China)				
	Information captured not fully available for study and evaluation (Spain)				
	No routine systems of indicators linked to patient satisfaction (Chile)				
	Payment levels insufficient to compensate for incentives in activity-based payments (China) or cover costs of patients with complex conditions (Australia); unclear whether balance achieved between financial incentives in payment mechanisms for quality and those for volume (Germany)				
	Small-scale pilots associated with high implementation costs (South Africa); low patient volume resulting in incentives that were insufficient to drive changes in providers' behaviour (South Africa)				
Financial factors	Insufficient consideration of implementation costs and time for practices to change and to recruit staff (Australia)				
	Uncertainty about the continuation of funding may have increased provider drop out (Australia)				
	Financial flows between practice and practitioners were unclear and may have affected participation (Australia)				
	Financial rewards delinked to health outcomes (Spain)				
	Lack of earmarked investments (Spain)				

Low health provider and patient uptake prevented large-scale impact in many settings. Weak **service integration** was mentioned as an inhibiting factor, particularly between home care and the health system. Another factor included the lack of attention to broader social determinants of health, which are critical in chronic disease management.

In some settings, authors reported that there was insufficient attention to basic infrastructure to deliver **quality**, including human

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report resources capacities, supplies and equipment; and clinical protocols were not updated over time. In some settings, health professionals failed to engage with the programme or were reluctant to use new tools. In others, authors reported insufficient attention to patients' perceptions of quality. **Health information systems**, while critical, were associated with numerous challenges, including a lack of interoperability that inhibited data sharing and availability between national and regional health information systems or between primary- and secondary-level facilities. The additional reporting burden was considered particularly heavy and may have taken time away from other activities in some settings.

For financial issues, the most frequently mentioned inhibiting factors were payments that were felt to be insufficient to motivate providers, the inability to attain sufficient patient volume to generate sufficient financial incentives, and the inability to balance the incentivized activities and base payment methods. Uncertainty about payments and financial flows within the health facility inhibited implementation, as well as uncertainty regarding the continuation of pilot models.

2.7 Conclusions

This section discussed the findings from eight case studies that describe the design of different purchasing arrangements that aim to promote quality in chronic disease care. In most studies, changes to payment methods were accompanied by other service delivery interventions, with the intention of providing incentives to deliver services in a better way. A mix of process and outcome measures were used in all studies, with a reliance on information collected by existing administrative systems. A key consideration in the incentive structure is whether the incentives were sufficient to balance any negative incentives in the base payment. Evidence suggests that this was a challenge across most settings. Additionally, rigorous evaluation of schemes remains a challenge. Results from evaluations of quality were not conclusive for programmes that undertook these. Evaluations faced important methodological challenges, including selection bias and the choice of quality metrics, such as patients' perspectives. Key facilitating and inhibiting factors included those related to governance, service delivery, quality and health information infrastructure, and the financial and regulatory environments.

Lessons learned

5 Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report The purchasing function is ubiquitous in health systems around the world. Provider payment methods are a key component of purchasing arrangements. Each method has advantages and disadvantages. As such, each creates financial incentives that align to varying extents with the overall quality goals of the health system. There have been numerous initiatives to ensure that purchasing arrangements and payment methods are more closely aligned with overall health systems and policy goals.

This joint research programme between the WHO and OECD commissioned new case studies and reviewed the body of evidence from rigorous evaluations to discuss the modalities and effects of different payment methods for purchasing to improve the quality of chronic care across diverse settings. Despite many studies having been published across a range of settings, evidence from rigorous evaluations of payment methods found only weak associations with improved process quality and outcomes. Among the few studies that demonstrated positive results, the effects were modest and shortlived. While there is substantial heterogeneity in the design, implementation, measurement and evaluation of such programmes, as well as among the programmes' features - including the size and type of the organization, technical scope and individual characteristics of health providers - such factors cannot explain the consistently lower-than-expected effectiveness reported in evaluations of payment methods (96).

In response to such evaluations, some authors emphasize that there is a need to reconsider how payment methods are designed and implemented to promote better performance (129). Others point out the need to strengthen governance, institutional arrangements and health information systems as prerequisites to enable stronger payment systems to be successfully implemented (9, 10). Governments provide the legislative basis and often the initial financial investments that enable a shift from activity-based payment methods to a payment mix purposively aligned to strengthen the incentives for improving quality. Equally important enabling factors include the local context and implementation factors, and the alignment of a programme with the overall goals of the health system.

All stakeholders – whether governments as purchasers and health leaders, the international community or academia – strive to better understand how to implement an optimal mix of different methods of paying providers to support the goals of better quality and health. We conclude with some lessons learned about improving purchasing arrangements and payment methods to provide better quality care for patients with chronic conditions.
3

3.1 Stronger focus on the service delivery model

As demonstrated in prior studies and policy advice, this report reiterates the finding that purchasing arrangements and payment methods alone cannot overcome major structural problems in service delivery that inhibit quality. While a narrow focus on payment methods may be attractive in its simplicity, a great deal of evidence shows that it is not a magic bullet. One-off initiatives – even when successful – tend to have modest and short-lived effects. Perhaps worse, they may take away the time and resources needed to sustain quality improvements that could be more impactful *(66, 130)*. Health care providers can also become demotivated and discouraged when they are held accountable for poor health outcomes that are beyond their control and primarily attributable to weak delivery systems, and poor accountability and coordination structures *(11)*.

An important approach suggested by this research is to focus more strongly on health care delivery systems and systematically identify obstacles that inhibit the effects of purchasing mechanisms on quality. As described in Section 1, an increasing number of countries are gradually changing payment methods to support the implementation of specific service delivery and quality improvement models, including integrated care models. Several of the country case studies in this report focused on the use of payments to support a higher degree of care integration, for example between primary and secondary levels. As such, purchasing forms one part of a comprehensive quality improvement initiative grounded within a service delivery model. The role of payments, therefore, shifts from a short-term transactional activity towards a financing mechanism to support and drive changes in service delivery systems to deliver quality care.

The choice of payment methods should thus consider the desired change and systems requirements in the context of the existing payment infrastructure. Several of the case studies targeted specific clinical quality improvements for specific diseases; as such, payment methods can be tailored to achieve incremental results in the short term while also considering longer-term objectives and the required investments, such as in health information infrastructure. With a focus on the quality objectives, policy-makers can also consider which payment methods are the best options among a range of quality improvement mechanisms. 3

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report

3.2 Selecting quality measures, relative targets and reporting requirements

The choice of quality measures, targets and reporting requirements is among the critical design elements. Quality is a multidimensional concept. Particularly in the context of chronic care, it can include not only clinical quality but also coordination across different categories of health care providers as well as prevention. While measures of care coordination, integration and person-centeredness are important in caring for patients with chronic conditions, substantial efforts are required to define and operationalize these more complex measures; as a result, their inclusion in the programmes studied here was infrequent (131). Many settings select process measures based on clinical protocols to ensure strong linkages between a providers' practice and improved health outcomes. As clinical protocols are aligned with established professional norms, this ensures that quality measures are evidence-based, and it may increase compliance. Some of the case studies and evaluation literature had information about patient-reported outcomes, including self-management, which may be important for measuring care quality for chronic conditions. However, these require investments in specific surveys and careful data analysis and interpretation.

Using fixed uniform targets for the quality indicators measures success as defined by the absolute performance achieved. The case studies demonstrated that fixed targets may have resulted in barriers to provider and patient participation in remote areas where patient recruitment was more difficult. In such cases, relative or progressive targets may be more appropriate when there is diversity in providers' capacities (131). Relative or progressive targets may encourage providers and facilities to strive towards gradually improving standards of care. This strategy allows for higher levels of investment in disadvantaged regions while also linking those investments with tangible indicators to hold providers accountable for the quality of care they offer. This may be more appropriate for primary care providers, for whom higher levels of investment in basic quality may be needed in some cases. Relative or progressive targets can also apply to the quality credentialing process, enabling facility participation, with targets that may increase over time to encourage quality improvements.

Adjusting the quality measures for risk and patient care complexity may help ensure that providers do not face incentives that inhibit them from caring for the sickest patients. It may also enable more accurate assessments of performance for those providers working with populations that have higher health risks or in regions with challenging socioeconomic factors. The level of granularity in risk adjustment may depend on the blend of payment mechanisms. For

Z Lessons learned

example, more granular risk adjustments may be needed when primary care capitation replaces FFS, as the latter adjusts for risk based on a higher number of visits for patients with more complex problems (132).

In one country case study, metrics were adjusted for social risk factors to address inequities in serving vulnerable populations (114). This practice is in line with evidence that adjusting performance measures for social risk factors can be used to avoid penalizing health facilities for serving poor and vulnerable patients and thus can improve equity in provider payments (133).

Data availability is an important factor in determining quality measures. At the same time, reporting systems that collect extensive data about quality can be costly in terms of implementation and providers' time. Heavy reporting requirements may result in health care providers taking time away from patients and other quality improvement programmes (134). As such, reporting requirements must be as light as possible and completed through the claims management system or other routine reporting systems, where feasible. This ensures that any additional reporting is integral to existing systems. It can also be noted that, as data availability and claims management systems evolve, particularly with digital and information technologies, this may ease the reporting burden.

3.3 Key design features of payment level and certainty

Two other key design elements are payment level and certainty. There is variation in how payments can be designed and allocated. Key elements in the design of financial incentives for payment methods have been well documented. They include the base payments prior to the intervention, the size of the financial incentive and the size of the additional payments as a percentage of total revenue, marginal costs that providers should bear to improve performance, the linkage between the incentive and the quality measurements, how payments are distributed, and the blend of group- and individual-level incentives and how they are weighted (8, 121, 135-138). While some reviews cite a small incentive size as a possible contributing factor to poor outcomes, studies have not established clear guidance as to what the appropriate size or amount may be (123, 124, 136). The appropriate mix of payment methods and related incentives may vary by organization or practice setting. The size of the performance payment can also be based on broader goals, such as providing incentives for quality primary care or making the payment more attractive.



Certainty in payment is another key factor in providers' willingness to participate or accept change. Uncertainties regarding payments can include a lack of clarity about the amount or receipt of the incentive payment. This report found little information about how decisions are made to distribute payments; where the process is unclear, this may create greater uncertainties that, in turn, reduce the effect of the incentive. As such, the terms of the incentives should be transparent and include information about their linkages to quality metrics and a timely payment schedule. Confidence is increased in the payment method when there are clear rules for distributing performance payments across teams or within teams, whether related to salary or actual effort. In recognition that some payment methods may also result in decreased provider revenue, it is also important not to expose providers to risks that they cannot control - that is, excessive financial risk. Given the challenges to sustaining positive changes, there should also be a commitment to payment reforms that span an extended period.

3.4 Balancing financial incentives

The case studies illustrate the difficulties of balancing or offsetting any negative incentives in base or existing payment methods against new payment methods. Relatively small incremental reward payments or penalties may be insufficient to counter the much stronger incentives in activity-based payment methods to increase the volume of services delivered. For example, the risks inherent in a shared-savings contract include underproviding needed care; at the same time, there are incentives for overprovision in the FFS reimbursement system. Bundled payments with shared savings for providers must be contingent on achieving defined quality targets to avoid skimping on needed care. Shared savings may, in the end, lead to a redistribution of funds across different stakeholders rather than a reduction in expenditures. Hence, it is important to be transparent about the different interests and who determines how funds are distributed.

Some evidence suggests that nonpayment for failure to reach targets may be effective in hospital settings (78). However, in two of these case studies, withholding payments as a penalty had negative effects. This included creating resentment among providers who consequently selectively enrolled healthier patients more willing to adhere to medical advice. In another setting, withholding payments based on poor performance assessments had a regressive effect, as it primarily affected resource-poor regions and the funds were allocated to better-performing higher-income areas. In some hospital settings, penalizing poor quality is done by withholding payments for sentinel adverse events. However, evidence is



inconsistent that the effect of nonpayment reduces the number of adverse outcomes (106-108). These experiences suggest that penalties for poor performance should be considered carefully so as not to undermine overall programme objectives and reduce resources for quality improvements.

3.5 Investing in quality to support payment methods

Several case studies identified the importance of clinical protocols and pathways for patient management and referral as important facilitating factors for payment methods. Financial incentives to improve quality rely heavily on, and need to be embedded in, the pillars established through other quality assurance mechanisms, which vary widely across different country contexts. To enable the implementation of purchasing mechanisms for quality, investments need to be systematically made to strengthen the standards for health systems input and processes to provide a foundation for purchasing and other quality improvement programmes. These investments include developing standards for health systems input and infrastructure (e.g. regulation of health professionals, licensing and certification of facilities and products, and accreditation) and standards for ensuring health systems processes (e.g. clinical protocols and pathways, audit and patient safety strategies) (139). Another factor mentioned in the case studies was the regulation of health professionals' practice that inhibited the expansion of roles and fee-sharing.

3.6 Planning sequenced implementation to address systems requirements

Substantial long-term planning is needed to change payment and delivery systems and set up the requisite infrastructure to enable quality care. Many of the inhibiting factors mentioned in this research – such as a lack of interoperability between health information systems, poor communication and coordination, and resistance from key stakeholders – suggest that taking a long-term approach may be optimal. In this way, a sequenced implementation plan could more systematically predict and address the needed changes over time. This is consistent with some of the approaches in the case studies in which new payment methods were initiated while programmes also built broader capacities in human resources and service delivery. Such an approach enables policy-makers to focus on quality and health outcomes for the population and to

3

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report identify the appropriate mix of payment methods that will support reforms to service delivery that will achieve the quality objectives.

Table 15 illustrates a hypothetical and simplified example of a long-term planning exercise undertaken to implement and sustain changes in how providers are paid and identifying areas in which investments are required in institutional capacities. The factors listed in the table come from examples identified in the case studies. In this hypothetical example, we identify the broad goal of delivering patient-centred primary care, and some facilitating and inhibiting factors within governance, service delivery, health information, and financial and regulatory systems.

Table 15. Hypothetical, simplified example of using sequenced implementation of a purchasing arrangement to address systems requirements for the long-term goal of delivering patient-centred primary care

Key facilitating factors	Starting point	Intermediate objectives	Long-term objectives
Governance	Limited engagement of health care providers	Government as purchaser has systems in place to gather regular feedback about implementation from providers in public primary care facilities	Providers' feedback used for strategic planning and ongoing adjustments to implementation
Health information systems	Disease-specific reporting systems in place	Interoperability of health information systems between primary and secondary levels	Common information platform for planning, monitoring and evaluation
Care management	Disease-specific management protocols in place	Standardized protocols used across primary and secondary facilities	Smooth referrals across the primary and secondary system and to community level
Financial	Financial risk to providers is clear	Certainty and transparency about payments and distribution of payments	Funding is integrated into routine payment system

This research suggests that some of the important governance factors include strong political and health system leadership, and engagement and communication across a wide range of stakeholders, including purchasers, providers and the community. To enable payers to implement purchasing arrangements and carry out negotiations with providers, some countries have invested in strengthening institutional arrangements or independent agencies to carry out purchasing and payment functions, including data collection, stakeholder consultations and monitoring and evaluation (98).

Investments are typically required in operational prerequisites, such as health information systems and health data infrastructure.

3 Lessons learned

Interoperability across health information systems was identified as a major barrier to improving systems and payments. It is critical element towards a common platform for health information systems that enable both care management as well as monitoring. Many of the programmes described in the case studies also developed the important ability to identify high-risk populations for targeted interventions. Over time, such platforms can be used to make ongoing quality improvements.

Uncertainty about payments was mentioned as an inhibiting factor in the case studies. Certainty among providers that they will indeed receive initial and long-term funding can help ensure confidence among those implementing changes that will be sustained over time. Confidence may be increased when funding for a specific programme is integrated into the routine payment system and providers understand their financial risk and are not exposed to excessive risk.

Investments in the institutional bodies required to sustain quality improvement take time. However, in many settings, purchasers have taken into consideration short- and medium- term changes to promote quality within the current payment infrastructure by building in stronger incentives for quality improvements. In the example in Table 15, we highlight integrated care protocols as a mechanism for smooth referral, coordination and communication between primary and secondary facilities. In several case studies, standardized and regularly updated care protocols were the basis for payment and incentive mechanisms.

Financial aspects and regulatory issues also need to be identified and systematically addressed. Regulatory issues mentioned in the case studies included rules that inhibited the expansion of professional roles, capacities and responsibilities to implement changes aligned with the service delivery and payment model.

3.7 Nonfinancial incentives

Stronger conceptual frameworks are essential to underpin the careful design of such schemes before wide-scale implementation. They include the articulation of causal pathways and assumptions made. The general assumption underlying payment initiatives is that health care providers know how to improve quality and performance and will do so if they are paid more. While financial incentives remain a powerful motivator to change behaviours, health care providers' behaviours are complex and are driven by more than money (140). Further exploration of other, potentially more effective and possibly less costly, approaches to improving quality are needed. These may include supervision, staff promotion, training

3

Purchasing for quality chronic care Summary report and other forms of nonfinancial motivation. Importantly, before using financial incentives in LMICs, the quality fundamentals must be assured – for example, medicines and sufficient staff.

Incentive schemes in some settings took into consideration several different factors that drive behaviours. Such factors can be incorporated into programmes to enhance motivation. As documented in the case studies, important incentives included providers' and organizations' reputations. Some programmes published data about their quality measures, and this is considered one means to motivate providers (141), although evidence on its effect is scarce (100-102). Training opportunities were an additional motivating factor.

3.8 Monitoring and rigorous evaluation

Because payment methods have the potential for harm as well as benefit, it is important to invest in monitoring systems and evaluations. As noted previously, most of the programmes in the case studies have invested in health information systems to collect data and enable ongoing monitoring during implementation. This will allow for continual revisions during implementation to address unexpected outcomes and providers' gaming of payment systems.

The absence of rigorous independent evaluation studies has hindered the design and implementation of options to improve purchasing mechanisms aiming towards better care quality. Many studies that were evaluated applied weak methods and designs that led to low certainty of impact. For example, multiple studies in the evaluation literature cited in Section 1 failed to correct for selection bias occurring because of voluntary participation in incentive schemes and a lack of comparison groups. Challenges in evaluation include widely varying contexts across the intervention itself, the patient population and the institutional environment. It is uncertain in some cases whether sufficient time was given for implementation prior to evaluation. Given that published studies represent a small share of all studies conducted, such publication bias suggests that even the small effects reported overestimate the impacts (142).

Having plans for data collection and statistical analysis are fundamental to generate sufficient power for an evaluation. Analysis plans should test assumptions, address sources of bias, and explicitly examine the potential unintended consequences against a broad range of outcomes. Studies should identify and evaluate differential effects among vulnerable subgroups.

Selection bias represents one of the more prevalent issues in evaluating the effects of payment methods. Such bias results from

Z Lessons learned

the voluntary participation of providers as well as voluntary patient enrolment. Generally, providers may have more incentives to participate if they have met or exceeded quality requirements and could maximize their revenue through additional incentives (89). Patients may be more likely to enrol if they have worse health or access and can benefit from quality interventions.

While it may be impractical to employ random assignment to intervention and control groups, researchers can employ more sophisticated analytical techniques to address selection bias and control for other factors, including the programme's characteristics, population risk and other time-varying factors. Difference-indifferences approaches can be used to facilitate the use of control groups for evaluation. Furthermore, to evaluate a model, baseline data should be measured across key dimensions to avoid implementing the model and the metrics at the same time. In explaining results, evaluators need to clearly describe the quality of the evidence and any limitations so that policy-makers can accurately interpret the findings.

In addition, there is a lack of good evidence and documentation about other purchasing instruments commonly thought to promote quality. These include making information about quality publicly available to hold providers accountable for the quality of their care, using selective contracting to promote competition to encourage better quality and making geographical price adjustments to ensure compliance with minimum quality standards. Operationalizing broad recommendations (such as not paying for poor quality care) has, in practice, resulted in policies with unintended consequences that can negatively affect patients (143). Close monitoring and careful evaluations of these instruments are essential. Financial incentives for patients have demonstrated some effect in terms of them receiving better quality care and are another promising route deserving more research.

3.9 Conclusions

This report collected information from new case studies and reviewed rigorous evaluations to collate evidence about the effects of different models for purchasing quality chronic care across diverse settings. Despite there being many studies across a range of settings, evidence from rigorous evaluations of payment methods is limited, and associations between changes in payment methods and desired outcomes are weak. There remains strong interest in better understanding how to implement an optimal mix of different payment methods to support the goals of better care quality and health. The challenge is to better understand whether design and 5 Purchasing

for quality chronic care Summary report implementation are inadequate to achieve more promising results or whether the assumptions about improving quality through financial incentives are flawed.

An important approach suggested by this research is that there must be a stronger focus on service delivery and systematic identification of obstacles that inhibit the effects of purchasing mechanisms on quality. In this way, the role of payments shifts from a short-term transactional activity towards a financing mechanism that can support and drive changes in service delivery systems to provide quality care.

There are many critical elements in designing payment methods, including the choice of quality measures, targets and reporting requirements. Relative or progressive targets are an important consideration as these allow providers to strive for quality improvements. Reporting requirements should be reasonable so as not to burden health care providers. Relatively small, incremental reward payments or penalties may be insufficient to counter the much stronger incentives in the activity-based payment methods that produce a larger share of provider payments. Penalties for poor performance should be considered carefully so as not to undermine the overall objectives of a programme and so they do not reduce the resources available for quality improvements.

To enable the implementation of purchasing mechanisms for quality, investments need to be systematically made to strengthen the standards for health systems input and processes to provide a foundation for purchasing and other quality improvement programmes. A road map can help to identify and systematically address challenges in an incremental way to improve quality within the existing governance, service delivery, quality assurance, health information, and financial and regulatory systems. Rigorous independent evaluations can support the scaling up and transferability of programmes to improve purchasing mechanisms that aim towards better quality. Proactive learning across countries and among different stakeholders is essential to share experiences to avoid continually repeating similar mistakes and implementation failures.

- 1. Kruk ME, Gage AD, Joseph NT, Danaei G, García-Saisó S, Salomon JA. Mortality due to low-quality health systems in the universal health coverage era: a systematic analysis of amenable deaths in 137 countries. Lancet. 2018;392:2203-12. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31668-4.
- 2. Delivering quality health services: a global imperative. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, World Bank; 2018. (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/272465, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 3. The Global Health Observatory: probability of dying between the exact ages 30 and 70 years from cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, or chronic respiratory diseases (SDG 3.4.1) [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/probability-of-dying-between-exact-ages-30-and-70-from-any-of-cardiovascular-disease-cancer-diabetes-or-chronic-respiratory-(-), accessed 19 May 2023).
- 4. Noncommunicable diseases [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/noncommunicable-diseases, accessed 1 August 2023),
- Embedding quality within universal health coverage. In: Crossing the global quality chasm: improving health care worldwide. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2018:227–68 (https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/books/NBK535659/, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 6. Rowe AK, Rowe SY, Peters DH, Holloway KA, Chalker J, Ross-Degnan D. Effectiveness of strategies to improve health-care provider practices in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review. Lancet Glob Health. 2018;6:e1163–75.
- 7. Mathauer I, Dkhimi F. Analytical guide to assess a mixed provider payment system. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019. (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311020, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 8. Cashin C, Gatome-Munyua A. The Strategic Health Purchasing Progress Tracking Framework: a practical approach to describing, assessing, and improving strategic purchasing for universal health coverage. Health Syst Reform. 2022;8:e2051794. doi:10.1080/2328 8604.2022.2051794.
- Mathauer I, Dale E, Jowett M, Kutzin J. Purchasing health services for universal health coverage: how to make it more strategic? Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/311387, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 10. Exploring the role for strategic purchasing instruments to support improvements in the quality of care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/364854, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 11. Velasco-Garrido M, Borowitz MJ, Øvretveit J, Busse R. Purchasing for quality of care. In: Figueras J, Robinson R, Jakubowski E, editors. Purchasing to improve health systems performance. Maidenhead (UK): Open University Press; 2005:215–35 (https:// eurohealthobservatory.who.int/publications/m/purchasing-toimprove-health-systems-performance, accessed 1 August 2023).

- Eckhardt H, Smith P, Quentin W. Pay for quality: using financial incentives to improve quality of care. In: Busse R, Klazinga N, Panteli D, Quentin W, editors. Improving healthcare quality in Europe: characteristics, effectiveness and implementation of different strategies. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2019:357– 97 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/327356, accessed, 4 October 2023).
- Tsiachristas A, Dikkers C, Boland MR, Rutten-van Mölken MP. Exploring payment schemes used to promote integrated chronic care in Europe. Health Policy. 2013;113:296-304. doi:10.1016/j. healthpol.2013.07.007.
- 14. Dudley RA, Frolich A, Robinowitz DL, Talavera JA, Broadhead P, Luft HS. Strategies to support quality-based purchasing: a review of the evidence. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2004 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK43997/, accessed 1 August 2023).
- Damberg C, Sorbero ME, Lovejoy SL, Martsolf GR, Raaen L, Mandel D. Measuring success in health care value-based purchasing programs: summary and recommendations. Santa Monica (CA): RAND Corporation, 2014 (https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/ RR306z1.html, accessed 1 August 2023).
- Kovacs RJ, Powell-Jackson T, Kristensen SR, Singh N, Borghi J. How are pay-for-performance schemes in healthcare designed in low- and middle-income countries? Typology and systematic literature review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020;20:291. doi:10.1186/s12913-020-05075-y.
- 17. James N, Lawson K, Acharya, Y. Evidence on result-based financing in maternal and child health in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. Glob Health Res Policy. 2020; 5: 31 https://doi.org/10.1186/s41256-020-00158-z
- 18. Waithaka D, Cashin C, Barasa E. Is performance-based financing a pathway to strategic purchasing in sub-Saharan Africa? A synthesis of the evidence. Health Syst Reform. 2020; 8:e2068231. doi:10.1080 /23288604.2022.2068231.
- Vlaanderen FP, Tanke MA, Bloem BR, Faber MJ, Eijkenaar F, Schut FT, Jeurissen PPT. Design and effects of outcome-based payment models in healthcare: a systematic review. Eur J Health Econ. 2019;20:217–32. doi:10.1007/s10198-018-0989-8.
- 20. Robinson JC. Theory and practice in the design of physician payment incentives. Milbank Q. 2001;79:149-77. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.00202.
- 21. Conrad DA. The theory of valueDbased payment incentives and their application to health care. Health Serv Res. 2015;50 (Suppl. 2):2057-89. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12408.
- 22. Social Health Protection Network P4H [website]. Geneva: P4H; 2023 (https://p4h.world/en/resources-tools/case-studies/ accessed 1 June 2023).
- 23. Health financing [website]. Washington (DC): Results for Development; 2023 (https://r4d.org/health/health-financing, accessed 1 June 2023).

- 24. Strategic purchasing [website] London: London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Resilient and Responsive Health Systems (RESYST); 2023 (https://resyst.lshtm.ac.uk/strategic-purchasing, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 25. Health Care Payment Learning and Action Network [website]. HCPLAN; 2023 (https://hcp-lan.org, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 26. Results-based financing [website]. Washington (DC): Global Partnership for Results-Based Approaches; 2023 (https://www.gprba. org/results-based-financing, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 27. Strategic Purchasing Africa Resource Centre [website]. Nairobi: SPARC; 2023 (https://sparc.africa, accessed 1 June 2023).
- Bauhoff S, Glassman A. Washington (DC): Health Results Innovation Trust Fund at 10: What have we learned so far? 30 January 2017. (https://www.cgdev.org/blog/health-results-innovation-trust-fund-10-what-have-we-learned-so-far, accessed 30 August 2023).
- Results-based financing: indicator compendium for reproductive, maternal newborn, child and adolescent health [website]. Chapel Hill (NC): Measure Evaluation; 2023 (https://www.measureevaluation. org/rbf.html, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 30. Results based financing in health [online course]. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2023 (https://www.unsdglearn.org/courses/resultsbased-financing-in-health, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 31. Performance-based financing [website]. Washington (DC): United States Agency for International Development; 2023 (https://www. fpfinancingroadmap.org/learning/specific-topics/performancebased-financing, accessed 1 June 2023).
- Global Innovation Hub for improving value in health care [website]. Global Innovation Hub; 2023 (https://g20hub.org, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 33. Results and evidence: research that demonstrates the medical home's cost and quality impact [website]. Washington (DC): Primary Care Collaborative; 2023 (https://www.pcpcc.org/results-evidence, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 34. Global Coalition for Value in Healthcare [website]. Geneva: Global Coalition for Value in Healthcare; 2023 (https://www.weforum.org/global-coalition-for-value-in-healthcare, accessed 1 June 2023).
- P4P research clearinghouse website: international programs [website]. Minneapolis (MN): University of Minnesota; 2023 (https:// p4presearch.umn.edu/international, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 36. Value and Systems Science Lab [website]. Seattle (WA): Value and Systems Science Lab; 2023 (https://www.vsslab.org, accessed 1 June 2023).
- Innovation models [website]. Baltimore (MD): US Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; 2023 (https://innovation.cms.gov/ innovation-models#views=models, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 38. Catalyst for Payment Reform: who we are [website]. Berkeley (CA): Catalyst for Payment Reform; 2023 (https://www.catalyze.org/ about-us, accessed 1 June 2023).

- Cashin C, Chi Y, Borowitz M, Thompson S. Paying for performance in healthcare: implications for health system performance and accountability. London: McGraw-Hill; 2014. (https://doi. org/10.1787/9789264224568-en, accessed 1 June 2023).
- Cashin C, Ankhbayar B, Phuong HT, Jamsran G, Nanzad O, Phuong NK, et al. Assessing health provider payment systems: a practical guide for countries working toward universal health coverage. Washington (DC): Joint Learning Network for Universal Health Coverage; 2015. (https://www.jointlearningnetwork.org/resources/assessing-healthprovider-payment-systems-a-practical-guide-for-countries-w/, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 41. Langenbrunner J, Orosz E, Kutzin J, Wiley M. Purchasing and paying providers. In: Figueras J, Robinson R, Jakubowski E, editors. Purchasing to improve health systems performance. Maidenhead (UK): Open University Press; 2005:236–64 (https://eurohealthobservatory.who.int/publications/m/purchasing-to-improve-health-systems-performance, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 42. Alternative Payment Model (APM) Framework. McLean (VA): Mitre; 2017 (https://hcp-lan.org/workproducts/apm-refresh-whitepaper-final.pdf, accessed 29 August 2023).
- Berenson RA, Upadhyay D, Delbanco SF, Murray R. Payment methods and benefit designs: how they work and how they work together to improve health care. A typology of payment methods. Washington (DC): Urban Institute; 2016 (https://www.urban.org/sites/default/ files/publication/80316/2000779-A-Typology-of-Payment-Methods. pdf, accessed 1 August 2023).
- Struckmann V, Quentin W, Busse R, van Ginneken E. How to strengthen financing mechanisms to promote care for people with multimorbidity in Europe? Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2017 (https://eurohealthobservatory.who.int/docs/ librariesprovider3/studies---external/pb_24.pdf, accessed 1 August 2023).
- Srivastava S, Mueller M, Hewlett E. Better ways to pay for health care. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2016 (https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264258211-en, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 46. Klein A, Mathauer I, Stenberg K, Habich TD. Diagnosis-related groups: a question and answer guide on case-based classification and payment systems. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/333717, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 47. Health Systems Characteristics [website]. Paris: Organisation of Economic Co-operation and Development; 2018 (http://www.oecd. org/els/health-systems/characteristics.htm, accessed 1 June 2023).
- Kaufman BG, Spivack BS, Stearns SC, Sonprag PH, O'Brien EC. Impact of accountable care organizations on utilization, care, and outcomes: a systematic review. Med Care Res Rev. 2019;76:255-90. doi:10.1177/1077558717745916.

- About the program: shared-savings program [website]. Baltimore (MD): US Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; 2023 (https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for-Service-Payment/ sharedsavingsprogram/about, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 50. Agarwal R, Liao JM, Gupta A, Navathe AS. The impact of bundled payment on health care spending, utilization, and quality: a systematic review. Health Aff (Millwood). 2020;39:50-7. doi:10.1377/ hlthaff.2019.00784.
- 51. Werner RM, Emanuel EJ, Pham HH, Navathe AS. The future of valuebased payment: a road map to 2030. Philadelphia: Leonard Davis Institute of Health Economics, University of Pennsylvania; 2021 (https://ldi.upenn.edu/our-work/research-updates/the-future-ofvalue-based-payment-a-road-map-to-2030/, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 52. Quality of care [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/health-topics/quality-of-care#tab=tab_1, accessed 1 July 2023).
- 53. Fekri O, Macarayan ER, Klazinga NS. Health system performance assessment in the WHO European Region: which domains and indicators have been used by Member States for its measurement? (WHO Health Evidence Network (HEN) Synthesis Report; No. 55). Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/326260, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 54. Handbook for national quality policy and strategy: a practical approach for developing policy and strategy to improve quality of care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272357, accessed 10 August 2023).
- 55. Donabedian A. The definition of quality and approaches to its assessment, volume 1. Explorations in quality assessment and monitoring. Ann Arbor (MI): Health Administration Press; 1980.
- 56. Crossing the quality chasm: a new health system for the 21st century. Washington (DC): National Academy Press; 2001 (https:// nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/10027/crossing-the-quality-chasm-a-new-health-system-for-the, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 57. Valderas JM, Gangannagaripalli J, Nolte E, Boyd CM, Roland M, Sarria-Santamera A, et al. Quality of care assessment for people with multimorbidity. J Intern Med. 2019;285: 289-300. doi:10.1111/ joim.12881.
- 58. Strandberg-Larsen M, Krasnik A. Measurement of integrated healthcare delivery: a systematic review of methods and future research directions. Int J Integr Care. 2009;9:e01. doi:10.5334/ijic.305.
- Gadsden T, Mabunda SA, Palagyi A, Maharani A, Sujarwoto S, et al. Performance-based incentives and community health workers' outputs, a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ 2021;99:805– 18. doi:10.2471/BLT.20.285218.

- Busse R, Blümel M. Payment systems to improve quality, efficiency, and care coordination for chronically ill patients – a framework and country examples. In: Mas N, Wisbaum W, editors. The triple aim for the future of health care. Madrid: FUNCAS Social and Economic Studies; 2015:83-100 (https://www.funcas.es/wp-content/uploads/ Migracion/Publicaciones/PDF/1964.pdf, accessed, 26 September 2023).
- 61. Ku GMV, van de Put W, Ahmed MAA, Sibongwere DK, Rosenberg M, Meessen B. Quality of care for chronic conditions: literature review and Delphi survey on the possible contribution of purchasing arrangements in low- and middle-income countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; Forthcoming.
- 62. Jonas DE, Ferrari RM, Wines RC, Vuong KT, Cotter A, Harris RP. Evaluating evidence on intermediate outcomes: considerations for groups making healthcare recommendations. Am J Prevent Med. 2018;54 (Suppl. 1):S38-52. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2017.08.033.
- 63. Kaplan RS, Jehi L, Ko CY, Pusic A, Witkowski M. Health care measurements that improve patient outcomes. NEJM Catal Innov Care Deliv. 2021;2:0527. doi:10.1056/CAT.20.0527.
- 64. van Herck P, De Smedt D, Annemans L, Remmen R, Rosenthal MB, Sermeus W. Systematic review: effects, design choices, and context of pay-for-performance in health care. BMC Health Serv Res. 2010;10:247. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-10-247.
- Josephson E, Gergen J, Coe M, Ski S, Madhavan S, Bauhoff S. How do performance-based financing programmes measure quality of care? A descriptive analysis of 68 quality checklists from 28 low- and middle-income countries. Health Policy Plan. 2017;32:1120-6. doi:10.1093/heapol/czx053.
- 66. Quentin W, Eckhardt H, Smith P. Pay for quality : using financial incentives to improve quality of care. In: Busse R, Klazinga N, Panteli D, Quentin W, editors. Improving healthcare quality in Europe: characteristics, effectiveness and implementation of different strategies. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2019:357– 400 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/327356, accessed 1 August 2023).
- Pham HH, Ginsburg PB, Lake TK, Maxfield M. Episode-based payments: charting a course for health care payment reform. Washington (DC): National Institute for Health Care Reform; 2010 (https://www.nihcr.org/publications/episode-based-payments/, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 68. Struijs JN, de Vries EF, Baan CA, van Gils PF, Rosenthal MB. Bundledpayment models around the world: how they work and what their impact has been. New York: The Commonwealth Fund; 2020 (https:// www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/2020-04/Struijs_ bundled_payment_models_around_world_ib.pdf, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 69. Turcotte-Tremblay AM, Gala Gali IA, Ridde V. An exploration of the unintended consequences of performance-based financing in 6 primary healthcare facilities in Burkina Faso. Int J Health Policy Manag. 2022;11:145-59. doi:10.34172/ijhpm.2020.83.

- Li X, Evans JM. Incentivizing performance in health care: a rapid review, typology and qualitative study of unintended consequences. BMC Health Serv Res. 2022;22:690. doi:10.1186/s12913-022-08032-z.
- Paul E, Albert L, Bisala NB, Bodson O, Bonnet E, Bossyns P, et al. Performance-based financing in low-income and middle-income countries: isn't it time for a rethink? BMJ Glob Health. 2018;3:e000664. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000664.
- 72. Wilding A, Munford L, Bruce Guthrie, Evangelos Kontopantelis, Matt Sutton. Family doctor responses to changes in target stringency under financial incentives. J Health Econ. 2022;85:102651. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2022.102651.
- 73. Mandavia R, Mehta N, Schilder A, Mossialos E. Effectiveness of UK provider financial incentives on quality of care: a systematic review. Br J Gen Pract. 2017;67:e800-15. doi:10.3399/bjgp17X693149.
- 74. Jakovljevic M, Jakab M, Gerdtham U, McDaid D, Ogura S, Varavikova E, et al. Comparative financing analysis and political economy of noncommunicable diseases. J Med Econ 2019;2:722-27. doi:10.108 0/13696998.2019.1600523.
- 75. Milstein R, Schreyoegg J. Pay for performance in the inpatient sector: a review of 34 P4P programs in 14 OECD countries. Health Policy. 2016;120:1125–40. doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2016.08.009.
- Diaconu K, Falconer J, Verbel A, Fretheim A, Witter S. Paying for performance to improve the delivery of health interventions in low- and middle-income countries. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021; (5):CD007899. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007899.pub3
- Jia L, Meng Q, Scott A, Yuan B, Zhang L. Payment methods for healthcare providers working in outpatient healthcare settings. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021(1):CD011865. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011865.pub2.
- Mathes T, Pieper D, Morche J, Polus S, Jaschinski T, Eikermann M. Pay for performance for hospitals. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;(7):CD011156. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011156.pub2.
- 79. Yuan B, He L, Meng Q, Jia L. Payment methods for outpatient care facilities. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(3):CD011153. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011153.pub2.
- Wiysonge CS, Paulsen E, Lewin S, Ciapponi A, Herrera CA, Opiyo N, et al. Financial arrangements for health systems in low-income countries: an overview of systematic reviews. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(9):CD011084. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011084. pub2.
- Rashidian A, Omidvari AH, Vali Y, Sturm H, Oxman AD. Pharmaceutical policies: effects of financial incentives for prescribers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(8):CD006731. doi:10.1002/14651858. CD006731.pub2.
- 82. Scott A, Sivey P, Ait Ouakrim D, Willenberg L, Naccarella L, Furler J, Young D. The effect of financial incentives on the quality of health care provided by primary care physicians. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;(9):CD008451. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD008451.pub2.

- 83. Flodgren G, Eccles MP, Shepperd S, Scott A, Parmelli E, Beyer FR. An overview of reviews evaluating the effectiveness of financial incentives in changing healthcare professional behaviours and patient outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;(7):CD009255. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009255.
- Hanson K, Brikci N, Erlangga D, Alebachew A, De Allegri M, Balabanova D, et al. The Lancet Global Health Commission on financing primary health care: putting people at the centre. Lancet Glob Health. 2022;10:e715-72. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00005-5.
- Martinez J, Pearson M, Sørensen BH, James B, Sambo C. Evaluation of the Health Results Innovation Trust Fund. Oslo: Norwegian Agency for Development; 2012 (https://www.norad.no/globalassets/import-2162015-80434-am/www.norad.no-ny/filarkiv/vedlegg-tilpublikasjoner/hritf_lr3.pdf, accessed 1 June 2023).
- James N, Lawson K, Acharya Y. Evidence on result-based financing in maternal and child health in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. Glob Health Res Policy. 2020;5:31. doi:10.1186/ s41256-020-00158-z.
- 87. de Walque D, Kandpal E, Wagstaff A, Friedman J, Neelsen S, Piatti-Fünfkirchen M, et al. Improving effective coverage in health: do financial incentives work? Washington (DC): World Bank; 2022 (https://www.worldbank.org/en/research/publication/improvingeffective-coverage-in-health, accessed 1 August 2023).
- Zaresani A, Scott A. Is the evidence on the effectiveness of pay for performance schemes in healthcare changing? Evidence from a meta-regression analysis. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021;21: 175. doi:10.1186/s12913-021-06118-8.
- 89. Simmons C, Pot M, Leichsenring K. Scoping review on alternative purchasing arrangements: impact of purchasing, service delivery and institutional design on quality of chronic care. Geneva: World Health Organization; Forthcoming.
- 90. Remers TEP, Nieuweweme N, van Dulmen SA, Rikkert MO, Jeurissen PPT. The impact of payment reforms on the quality and utilisation of healthcare for patients with multimorbidity: a systematic review. Int J Integr Care. 2022;22:10. doi:10.5334/ijic.5937.
- 91. Yee CA, Pizer SD, Frakt A. Medicare's bundled payment initiatives for hospital-initiated episodes: evidence and evolution. Milbank Q. 2020;98:908-74. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12465.
- 92. Philip S, Govier D, Pantely S. Patient-centered medical home: developing the business case from a practice perspective. New York: Milliman; 2019 (https://www.ncqa.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/06/06142019_WhitePaper_Milliman_ BusinessCasePCMH.pdf, accessed 1 January 2023).
- 93. Veet CA, Radomski TR, D'Avella C, Hernandez I, Wessel C, Swart ECS, et al. Impact of healthcare delivery system type on clinical, utilization, and cost outcomes of patient-centered medical homes: a systematic review. J Gen Int Med. 2020;35:1276–84. doi:10.1007/s11606-019-05594-3.

- 94. Jackson GL, Powers BJ, Chatterjee R, Bettger JP, Kemper AR, Hasselblad V, et al. The patient centered medical home. A systematic review. Ann Int Med. 2013;158:169-78. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-158-3-201302050-00579.
- 95. McManus LS, Dominguez-Cancino KA, Stanek MK, Leyva-Moral JM, Bravo-Tare CE, Rivera-Lozada O, Palmieri PA. The patient-centered medical home as an intervention strategy for diabetes mellitus: a systematic review of the literature. Curr Diabetes Rev. 2021;17:317-31. doi:10.2174/1573399816666201123103835.
- 96. Markovitz AA, Ryan AM. Pay-for-performance: disappointing results or masked heterogeneity? Med Care Res Rev. 2017;74:3-78. doi:10.1177/1077558715619282.
- 97. Aligning payment policies with quality improvement. In: Crossing the quality chasm: a new health system for the 21st century. Washington (DC): National Academy Press; 2001:181–206. (https://nap. nationalacademies.org/catalog/10027/crossing-the-quality-chasm-a-new-health-system-for-the, accessed 1 January 2023).
- Barber SL, Lorenzoni L, Ong P. Price setting and price regulation in health care: lessons for advancing universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/325547, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 99. Metcalfe D, Rios Diaz AJ, Olufajo OA, Massa MS, Ketelaar NA, Flottorp SA, Perry DC. Impact of public release of performance data on the behaviour of healthcare consumers and providers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;(9):CD004538. doi:10.1002/14651858. CD004538.pub3.
- 100. Fung CH, Lim YW, Mattke S, Damberg C, Shekelle PG. Systematic review: the evidence that publishing patient care performance data improves quality of care. Ann Intern Med. 2008;148:111-23. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-148-2-200801150-00006.
- 101. Chen J, Miraldo M. The impact of hospital price and quality transparency tools on healthcare spending: a systematic review. Health Econ Rev. 2022;12:62. doi:10.1186/s13561-022-00409-4.
- 102. Code of Federal Regulations: Title 42, Chapter IV, Subchapter G, Part 482 [website]. Washington (DC): US National Archives; 2023 (https:// www.ecfr.gov/current/title-42/chapter-IV/subchapter-G/part-482?toc=1, accessed 1 June 2023).
- 103. Bes RE, Curfs EC, Groenewegen PP, de Jong JD. Selective contracting and channelling patients to preferred providers: a scoping review. Health Policy. 2017;121:504-14. doi:10.1016/j. healthpol.2017.03.008.
- 104. Mazurenko O, Taylor HL, Menachemi N. The impact of narrow and tiered networks on costs, access, quality, and patient steering: a systematic review. Med Care Res Rev. 2022;79:607-17. doi:10.1177/10775587211055923.
- 105. Claxton G, McDermott D, Cox C, Hudman J, Kamal R, Rae M. Employer strategies to reduce health costs and improve quality through network configuration: approaches [website]. New York (NY): Peterson Center on Healthcare–KFF; 2019 (https://www.

healthsystemtracker.org/brief/employer-strategies-to-reduce-healthcosts-and-improve-quality-through-network-configuration/ #considerations-and-challenges-to-adopting-costreducing-orqualityimproving-approaches, accessed 1 June 2023).

- 106. Lee GM, Kleinman K, Soumerai SB, Tse A, Cole D, Fridkin SK, et al. Effect of nonpayment for preventable infections in US hospitals. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:1428-37. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa1202419.
- 107. Kawai AT, Calderwood MS, Jin R, Soumerai AB, Vaz LE, Goldmann D, Lee DM. Impact of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services hospital-acquired conditions policy on billing rates for 2 targeted healthcare-associated infections. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2015;38:871-7. doi:10.1017/ice.2015.86.
- 108. Padula WV, Black JM, Davidson PM, Kang SY, Pronovost PJ. Adverse effects of the Medicare PSI-90 hospital penalty system on revenueneutral hospital-acquired conditions. J Patient Saf. 2020;16:e97-102. doi:10.1097/PTS.00000000000517.
- 109. Greer SL, Klasa K, van Ginneken E. Power and purchasing: why strategic purchasing fails. Milbank Q. 2020;98:975-1020. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12471.
- 110. Fasseeh AN, Saragih SM, Hayek N, Brodovska S, Ismail A, ElShalakani A, et al. Impact of health technology assessment implementation with a special focus on middle-income countries. Health Policy Technol. 2022;11:100688. doi:10.1016/j.hlpt.2022.100688.
- Urriola R, Larrain N. Effect of the payment mix for primary care services on the quality of chronic care in Chile: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.
- 112. Long Q, Jia Y, Li J, Lou Z, Liu Y. National Basic Public Health Services Programme in China: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.
- 113. Nappoe SA, Djasri H, Kurniawan MF. Chronic disease management programme (PROLANIS) in Indonesia: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.
- 114. Smith A, Mosam A. Value Care Team model in South Africa: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.
- 115. Hall J, van Gool K, Haywood P, Pearse J, Mazevska D, Yu S, et al. Australian Health Care Homes trial: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.
- 116. Wodchis WP, Rashidian L. Integrated Comprehensive Care programme in Ontario, Canada. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.
- 117. Lindner LE. Healthy Kinzigtal Programme in Germany: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.

- 118. Bernal-Delgado E, Angulo-Pueyo E. Purchasing arrangements to strengthen the quality of chronic care in three Spanish autonomous communities: case study. Geneva: World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2023.
- 119. Smith B. CMS Innovation Center at 10 Years progress and lessons learned. N Engl J Med. 2021;384:759-64. doi:10.1056/ NEJMsb2031138.
- 120. Jakab M, Evetovits T, McDaid D. Health financing strategies to support scale-up of core noncommunicable disease interventions and services. In: Jakab M, Farrington J, Borgermans L, Mantingh F, editors. Health systems respond to noncommunicable diseases: time for ambition. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018:200–23 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/342223, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 121. Blumenthal DM, Song Z, Jena AB, Ferris TG. Guidance for structuring team-based incentives in healthcare. Am J Manag Care. 2013;19:e64-70.
- 122. Gaynor M, Gertler P. Moral hazard and risk-spreading in partnerships. RAND J Econ. 1995;26:591–613 (https://www.rand.org/pubs/ reprints/RP516.html, accessed 1 August 2023).
- Petersen LA, Woodard LD, Urech T, Daw C, Sookanan S. Does pay-forperformance improve the quality of health care? Ann Int Med. 2006;145:265–72. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-145-4-200608150-00006.
- 124. Avery G, Schultz J. Regulation, financial incentives, and the production of quality. Am J Med Qual. 2007;22:265–73. doi:10.1177/1062860607300564.
- 125. Sambodo NP, Bonfrer I, Sparrow R, Pradhan M, van Doorslaer E. Effects of performance-based capitation payment on the use of public primary health care services in Indonesia. Soc Sci Med. 2023;327:115921. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2023.115921.
- 126. Iacus SM, King G, Porro G. Matching for causal inference without balance checking [website]. Rochester (NY): Social Science Research Network; 2008 (https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_ id=1152391, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 127. Schubert I, Siegel A, Graf E, Farin-Glattacker E, Ihle P, Köster I, et al. Study protocol for a quasi-experimental claims-based study evaluating 10-year results of the population-based integrated healthcare model 'Gesundes Kinzigtal' (Healthy Kinzigtal): the INTEGRAL study. BMJ Open 2019;9:e025945. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2018-025945.
- 128. Schubert I, Stelzer D, Siegel A, Köster I, Mehl C, Ihle P, et al. Ten-year evaluation of the population-based integrated health care system "Gesundes Kinzigtal". Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2021;118:465-72. doi:10.3238/arztebl.m2021.0163.
- 129. Collins B. Payments and contracting for integrated care: the false promise of the self-improving health system. London: The King's Fund; 2019 (https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/payments-contracting-integrated-care, accessed 1 August 2023).

- 130. Soucat A, Dale E, Mathauer I, Kutzin J. Pay-for-performance debate: not seeing the forest for the trees. Health Syst Reform. 2017;3:74-9. doi:10.1080/23288604.2017.1302902.
- 131. Tyagi J, Wang S, Ingale S, Kaur M, Schierhout G, Peiris D, et al. Do purchasing arrangements improve the quality of chronic disease care?: scoping review. Geneva: World Health Organization; Forthcoming.
- 132. Berenson RA, Shartzer A, Murray RC. Strengthening primary care delivery through payment reform: options and experience. Washington (DC): Urban Institute; 2020 (https://nap. nationalacademies.org/resource/25983/Strengthening%20 Primary%20Care%20Delivery%20Through%20Payment%20 Reform.pdf, accessed 1 August 2023).
- Rogstad TL, Gupta S, Connolly J, Shrank WH, Roberts ET. Social risk adjustment in the hospital readmissions reduction program: a systematic review and implications for policy. Health Aff (Millwood). 2022;41:1307-15. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2022.00614.
- 134. Casalino LP, Gans D, Weber R, Cea M, Tuchovsky A, Bishop TF, et al. US physician practices spend more than \$15.4 billion annually to report quality measures. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35:401-6. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1258.
- 135. Quentin W, Partanen VM, Brownwood I, et al. Measuring healthcare quality. In: Busse R, Klazinga N, Panteli D, Quentin W, editors. Improving healthcare quality in Europe: characteristics, effectiveness and implementation of different strategies. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2019:31–62 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/327356, accessed, 26 September 2023).
- Young GJ, Conrad DA. Practical issues in the design and implementation of pay-for-quality programs. J Healthc Manag. 2007;52:10-8; discussion 18-9. PMID: 17288114.
- 137. Conrad DA, Perry L. Quality-based financial incentives in health care: can we improve quality by paying for it? Annu Rev Public Health. 2009;30:357-71. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.031308.100243.
- 138. Kovacs RJ, Powell-Jackson T, Kristensen SR, Singh N, Borghi J. How are pay-for-performance schemes in healthcare designed in low- and middle-income countries? Typology and systematic literature review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020;20:291. doi:10.1186/s12913-020-05075-y.
- 139. Busse R, Panteli D, Quentin W. An introduction to healthcare quality: defining and explaining its role in health systems. In: Busse R, Klazinga N, Panteli D, Quentin W, editors. Improving healthcare quality in Europe: characteristics, effectiveness and implementation of different strategies. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe ; 2019:3–18 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/327356, accessed, 26 September 2023).
- 140. Lagarde M, Huicho L, Papanicolas I. Motivating provision of high quality care: it is not all about the money. BMJ. 2019;366:L5210. doi:10.1136/bmj.L5210.

- 141. Kolstad JT. Information and quality when information is intrinsic: evidence from surgeon report cards. Am Econ Review. 2013;103:2875-2910. doi:10.3386/w18804.
- 142. Sutton A J. Publication bias. In: Cooper H, Hedges LV, Valentine JC, editors. The handbook of research synthesis and meta-analysis, second edition. New York: Russell Sage Foundation; 2019:435–52 (https://www.russellsage.org/publications/handbook-research-synthesis-and-meta-analysis-second-edition, accessed 1 August 2023).
- 143. Wadhera RK, Joynt Maddox KE, Wasfy JH, Haneuse S, Shen C, Yeh RW. Association of the Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program with mortality among Medicare beneficiaries hospitalized for heart failure, acute myocardial infarction, and pneumonia. JAMA. 2018;320:2542–52. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.19232.

World Health Organization Centre for Health Development (WHO Kobe Centre – WKC) Kobe, Japan

www.who.int/kobe_centre/en/

